REVIEW

REGULATION OF NEURON–ASTROCYTE METABOLIC COUPLING ACROSS THE SLEEP–WAKE CYCLE

J.-M. PETIT^{a,b*} AND P. J. MAGISTRETTI^{c,b,a}

^a Centre de Neurosciences Psychiatriques, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire Vaudois, Hôpital de Cery, Prilly, Switzerland

^b Laboratoire de Neuroénergétique et Dynamique Cellulaire, Brain Mind Institute, Faculté des Sciences de la Vie, EPFL, Lausanne, Switzerland

^c Division of Biological and Environmental Sciences and Engineering, King Abdullah University of Science and Technology (KAUST), Thuwal, Saudi Arabia

Abstract—Over the last thirty years, a growing number of studies showed that astrocytes play a pivotal role in the energy support to synapses. More precisely, astrocvtes adjust energy production to neuronal energy needs through different mechanisms grouped under the term "neurometabolic coupling" (NMC). In this review we describe these mechanisms of coupling and how they involve astrocytes. From a physiological point of view, these mechanisms of coupling are particularly important to ensure normal synaptic functioning when neurons undergo rapid and repetitive changes in the firing rate such as during the sleep/wake transitions. Investigations into brain energy metabolism during the sleep/wake cycle have been mainly focused on glucose (Gluc) consumption and on glycogen metabolism. However, the recent development of substrate-specific biosensors allowed measurements of the variation in extracellular levels of glutamate. Gluc and lactate (Lac) with a time resolution compatible with sleep stage duration. Together with gene expression data these experiments allowed to better define the variations of energy metabolite regulation across the sleep/wake

Abbreviations: Ade, adenosine; ADP, adenosine di-phosphate; ANLS, astrocyte-neuron lactate shuttle; ATP, adenosine tri-phosphate; DAB, 1,4-dideoxy-1,4-imino-p-arabinitol; EEG, electro-encephalogram; EMG, electro-myogram; EOG, electrooculogram; FDG, fluoro-deoxy glucose; GLAST, glutamate-aspartate transporter; Gln, glutamine; GLT1, glutamate transporter type-1; Glu, glutamate; Gluc, glucose; GLUT, glucose transporter; GPhos, glycogen phosphorylase; GS, glutamine synthase; GSynt, glycogen synthase; Lac, lactate; LDH, lactate dehydrogenase; LGCU, local glucose uptake; MCT, monocarboxylate transporter; NA, noradrenaline; NMC, neuro-metabolic coupling; NREM, Non-Rapid Eye Movement sleep; PET, positron emission tomography; PFK, phospho-fructo kinase; PPP1, protein phosphatase 1; PS, Paradoxical Sleep; PTG, protein targeting to glycogen; SWA, slow wave activity; SWS, slow-wave sleep; SF, sleep fragmentation; TSD, total sleep deprivation; VIP, vasoactive intestinal peptide; W, waking.

cycle. The aim of this review is to bring into perspective the role of astrocytes and NMC in the regulation of the sleep/wake cycle. The data reviewed also suggest an important role of the astrocytic network. In addition, the role of astrocytes in NMC mechanisms is consistent with the "local and use dependent" sleep hypothesis.

This article is part of a Special Issue entitled: Astrocyte-Neuron Interact. © 2015 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd. on behalf of IBRO. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Key words: lactate, glucose, glutamate, adenosine, locus coeruleus, gap-junctions.

Contents

Introduction	136
Sleep-wake cycle structure and regulation	136
Histological and biochemical properties of astrocytes	137
Brain energy and "neuro-metabolic coupling"	138
The brain energy budget	138
The "neuro-metabolic coupling mechanisms	138
NMC mechanisms throughout the sleep-wake cycle	141
Cerebral glucose uptake	141
Extra-cellular glucose levels variations	142
Extra-cellular lactate-level variations	142
Glycogen regulations throughout the sleep-wake cycle	145
An integrative view of the NMC mechanisms throughout	
the sleep–wake cycle	145
"Swinging of energy metabolism between astrocytes	
and neurons throughout the sleep-wake cycle	146
The role of the locus coeruleus in NMC mechanisms duri	ng
the sleep-wake cycle	146
Interactions between the release of ATP, adenosine	
and NMC mechanisms	147
NMC mechanisms and sleep disturbances	147
The role of the astrocyte network	148
Astrocytes form local networks through Gap-junctions	148
Neuronal activity impacts Cx30	148
Potential role of astrocyte network in NMC and sleep	
regulation	148
Conclusions	149
Neuronal phenotypes, astrocytes diversity and brain	
NMC mechanisms	149
NMC regulation and homeostatic plasticity: Beyond	
the metabolic role of lactate	149
Acknowledgments	150
References	150

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2015.12.007

0306-4522/© 2015 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd. on behalf of IBRO. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

^{*}Correspondence to: J.-M. Petit, Centre de Neurosciences Psychiatriques, Hôpital de Cery, 1008 Prilly, Switzerland.

E-mail addresses: jean-marie.petit@epfl.ch (J.-M. Petit), Pierre. magistretti@kaust.edu.sa (P. J. Magistretti).

INTRODUCTION

Since we spent one third of our life asleep, everyone has an intimate knowledge of sleep and its capacity to improve our cognitive and physical functions but also its great fragility regarding life stressors. However, even if great progress has been made since the 60s in the understanding of its mechanisms and in the description of its neuronal substrates, the exact regulation and functions of sleep remain unknown and constitute one of the most stimulating enigmas in neuroscience.

Until recently, sleep research was mainly dominated by a "neurocentric" approach, likely because the different sleep stages have been initially characterized through the electroencephalographic method that reflects cortical neuronal activity; furthermore glial cells were only considered as the "anatomic support" of the neuronal network. However, over the last twenty years, a growing number of studies showing the direct involvement of astrocytes in synaptic functions and in neuronal energy support, led researchers to hypothesize an active involvement of glial cells in sleep mechanisms and functions.

The aim of this review is to present results showing how glial cells ensure energy support to neurons throughout the sleep-wake cycle. Since most of the studies have interrogated astrocyte functions we only considered this type of glial cell in the present review.

Sleep-wake cycle structure and regulation

From a behavioral point of view, the sleep-wake cycle is observed across the animal kingdom, from worms to humans through insects, fish, birds and mammals. Across the phylogeny, many different species display a daily period of locomotor inactivity during which they adopt a specific body posture and display a higher threshold of sensory reactivity, three cardinal criteria of "sleep behavior" (Campbell and Tobler, 1984). Moreover the length of the rest period usually increases as a function of the length of the previous active period, a hallmark of the homeostatic regulation of sleep observed in mammals. The presence of these typical "sleep" features justified the use of drosophila and zebrafish as experimental models in sleep studies (Cirelli and Tononi, 2008; Zimmerman et al., 2008). However, in the great majority of animal sleep studies, rodents are used because their sleep displays features similar to those of other mammals including humans, particularly from an electrophysiological point of view. Sleep studies are usually performed using "polygraphic" recordings including the electroencephalogram (EEG), the electromyogram (EMG) and the electrooculogram (EOG) which respectively allow measuring cortical activity, muscle tone as well as eye movements. In addition to the polygraphic method, the Fast Fourier Transformation analysis (FFT) is classically used to assess gualitative differences in the spectral components of sleep EEG. Therefore, three vigilance stages, the Slow Wave Sleep (SWS) also called Non-Rapid Eye Movement (NREM) sleep, the Paradoxical Sleep (PS) equivalent to Rapid Eye Movement (REM) sleep and

waking (W) are classically determined and display the following features:

- During SWS, the EEG signal displays oscillations of high amplitude and low frequencies while the EMG signal reveals the absence of movement and a decline in muscle tone. Power spectrum analysis of EEG indicates a large predominance of low frequencies, including sleep spindles (8–14 Hz) during the early period of the sleep period followed by an increase in delta waves (1–4.5 Hz, also defined as slow wave activity (SWA)) and slow waves (<1 Hz). At the cellular levels, EEG slow waves corresponds to the alternation of an "UPstate" in which cortical neurons are depolarized and more excitable, and a "DOWN-state" in which the same neurons are hyperpolarized and silent (Vyazovskiy and Faraguna, 2015).
- During PS, the EEG signal is apparently closer to the waking EEG and displays oscillations of low amplitude and high frequencies. The EEG power spectrum is then shifted toward more rapid frequencies with a specific peak at 5–7 Hz (theta band). The muscle tone reaches a minimum and the density of rapid eye movements (which are almost abolished during SWS) increases considerably.
- During waking, the EEG trace displays oscillations of low amplitude and rapid frequencies which correspond to desynchronization of cortical cells ("up-state") that have a high rate of firing. The power spectrum of the waking EEG exhibits a predominance in alpha (9–12 Hz), beta (12–30 Hz) and gamma (>30 Hz) frequency bands.

Although many factors involved in the regulation of sleep are still unknown, a large body of evidence indicates that sleep regulation results in the interaction between circadian and homeostatic mechanisms (Borbély and Achermann, 1999).

A circadian regulation of sleep propensity controls the occurrence of the sleep period over the day. Similar to total sleep time and sleep episode duration, the daily sleep distribution varies greatly across mammals (Siegel, 2001). The daily distribution of sleep and wakefulness episodes follows a circadian rhythm (i.e. centered on a 24-h period). In standard conditions, this rhythm is driven by the suprachiasmatic nucleus (SCN) of the hypothalamus which directly integrates information about light intensity from the retina (Dibner et al., 2010). Through its neuronal projections and its action on the synthesis of humoral factors (such as melatonin), the SCN synchronizes different cellular clocks present in all neurons and astrocytes of the brain as well as in most of the cells of the body. Indeed, a set of genes (known as "clock genes") encode for proteins exerting positive and negative feedback on their own synthesis and on the synthesis of other proteins with a timing close to 24 h. This constitutes the molecular mechanisms of the cellular clock (Panda et al., 2002; Ko and Takahashi, 2006).

As we already mentioned, sleep is also regulated by homeostatic mechanisms. This means that the total sleep duration varies as a function of the preceding waking episode length. In addition to the sleep length, the SWA during the sleep recovery period increases and this "rebound" constitutes the most reliable mark of homeostatic mechanisms integrity (Borbély et al., 1981, 1984).

If EEG traces visually observed during SWS seem to display a similar pattern from frontal to occipital cortical regions, a more precise analysis of the EEG power spectrum of each derivation reveals some differences. As a matter of fact, experiments in humans and rodents show that cortical regions which were more activated during the previous wakefulness period display greater SWA during SWS (Vyazovskiy et al., 2000; Huber et al., 2004). This indicates that sleep, assessed by the SWA during the SWS, is a "use-dependent" and "local" phenomenon at the level of the cortex, the brain structure for which sleep functions are likely most important. In line with these aspects of cortical mechanisms during sleep, an intriguing observation made by Vyazovskiy and co-workers indicates the longer the wakefulness period, the larger number of cortical neurons display slow waves (e.g. with a frequencies between 0.1 and 1 Hz) across the waking period (Vyazovskiy et al., 2011). Therefore, these results coincide with the unihemispheric sleep observed in marine mammals or in birds where sleep and wakefulness can co-exist in different parts of the cortex (Rattenborg et al., 2012).

These recent data shed new light on the homeostatic mechanisms of sleep, underlining the potential role of local networks in addition to the classical role of the subcortical excitatory and inhibitory projections (from basal forebrain, thalamus, hypothalamus or brainstem) (Jones, 2008; Luppi et al., 2011), which may facilitate or inhibit sleep globalization throughout the cortex (Krueger and Tononi, 2011).

Histological and biochemical properties of astrocytes

Astrocytic functions are tightly linked to their specific cytoarchitecture, even if their morphology displays some differences depending to their brain location (Zhang and Barres, 2010). For example, processes of the Bergmann glia cells in the cerebellum display a radial-like shape parallel to the dendritic tree of the Purkinje neurons (Müller and Kettenmann, 1995; Bellamy, 2006) whereas protoplasmic astrocytes, that represent the largest number of astrocytes in the neocortex, exhibit a high number of peripheral "bushy" processes. The processes of one astrocyte delineate a spatial domain which represents approximately a spherical volume of 50-60 µm diameter (in rodents) only marginally overlapping with neighboring astrocytes. In addition, astrocytes have processes that ensheathe synapses while others send end-feet that cover intra-parenchymal capillary walls. Based on this anatomical organization, astrocytes play an essential role in the neurovascular coupling through sensing synaptic activity and release vasoactive molecules such as nitric oxide, adenosine triphosphate (ATP) and prostaglandins (for reviews see (Carmignoto and Gómez-Gonzalo, 2010; Howarth, 2014). However, the regulation of the neurovascular unit by astrocytes across the sleep wakecycle is beyond the scope of this review.

The astrocytic processes that ensheathe synapses are able to sense synaptic activity. This is due to the presence on their surface of many transporters (Chaudhry et al., 1995; Minelli et al., 2001; Kinney and Spain, 2002) and neurotransmitter receptors (Hösli and Hösli, 1993; Furuta et al., 1997; Neary et al., 2004). Application of different neurotransmitters on astrocytes induces an intracellular calcium ($[Ca^{2+}]_i$) rise which is considered as the main marker of astrocyte activation (for reviews see (Verkhratsky, 2006; Agulhon et al., 2008; Verkhratsky et al., 2012)), even if Ca²⁺ signaling can also appear spontaneously in astrocytes in the absence of neuronal activity (Aguado et al., 2002; Nett et al., 2002). In addition, the rise in extracellular potassium concentration ($[K +]_{o}$) accompanying synaptic activity and its pumping by astrocytes also triggers [Ca²⁺]_i increase. An astrocytic Ca²⁺ rises can trigger the vesicular release of "gliotransmitters" to modulate synaptic activity (recently reviewed in (Araque et al., 2014)). Therefore, although this mechanism is still a matter of debate, such a bidirectional neuron-astrocyte communication led to the concept of "tripartite synapse" in which astrocytic processes can modulate synaptic transmission (Arague et al., 1999; Perea et al., 2009; Santello et al., 2012).

Glycolysis corresponds to the metabolic pathway by which one glucose (Gluc) molecule is converted into pyruvate with the concomitant production of two molecules of ATP. Under aerobic conditions, pyruvate enters mitochondria where it is oxidized through the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle; under conditions of low oxygen availability (anaerobic) pyruvate is converted into lactate (Lac) by the lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) enzyme. It should be noted that lactate can also be formed in the presence of sufficient oxygen availability through a metabolic pathway called "aerobic glycolysis" or "Warburg effect". In the brain aerobic glycolysis is a hallmark of task-induced increases in neuronal activity, (Vaishnavi et al., 2010).

From the standpoint of glucose metabolism, astrocytes are predominantly glycolytic, producing lactate in the presence of oxygen while neurons are predominantly oxidative (Magistretti and Allaman, 2015). A cell-specific distribution of enzymes is at the basis of such a metabolic profile (Zhang et al., 2014). Thus, mitochondria are more abundant in neurons, with a preferential location at the synaptic terminals and axonal branches where their motility and distribution appears to be highly regulated to face local energy supply (for a recent review see (Sheng, 2014)). Astrocytes also contain mitochondria (Derouiche et al., 2015): however pvruvate dehvdrogenase (PDH), the enzyme responsible for the entry of pyruvate into the TCA cycle is saturated under basal metabolic conditions (Halim et al., 2010), meaning that when excess glucose in taken up by astrocytes, it cannot enter the TCA cycle and lactate will be produced.

In contrast, neurons are not able to upregulate glycolysis mainly due to their inability to efficiently increase the activity of phospho-fructo kinase (PFK) which is a key step in the regulation of glycolysis. One of the main reasons why neurons cannot activate PFK has been described by the group of Bolaños

(Bolaños et al., 2010). Shortly, in neurons, fructose-2,6biphosphate (F2,6P2) which is a powerful allosteric activator of the PFK, is synthesized at very low levels due to the almost total lack of the 6-phosphofructo-2-kinase/ fructose-2,6-biphosphatase isoform 3 (PFKFB3). Indeed, PFKFB3 undergoes a constant degradation via ubiquitinylation (Herrero-Mendez et al., 2009). In contrast PFKFB3 is expressed in astrocytes which can increase their levels of F2,6P2 (Almeida et al., 2004). In addition, in situ measurement of the glycolytic rate in astrocytes by genetically encoded FRET glucose nanosensor confirms that astrocytes can rapidly activate glycolysis (within seconds) in response to glutamate and K+ (Bittner et al., 2011). We should also note that neurons mainly used glucose to produce NADPH as reducing equivalents through the Pentose Phosphate Pathway (PPP) (Stincone et al., 2014). Due to the intense mitochondrial activity in neurons, high levels of NADPH are necessary to generate reduced glutathione that is one of the main components of the antioxidant cellular mechanisms (Fernandez-Fernandez et al., 2012).

Finally, maintaining a high glycolytic rate represents a higher risk for neurons than for astrocytes. In fact, through glycolysis, glucose metabolism generates methylglyoxal (MG), a toxic by-product. Since MG is a major precursor of "advanced glycation end products" (AGEs) known to be related to neurodegenerative diseases, brain cells should degrade or export MG rapidly (Thornalley, 2008). Degradation of MG is achieved by the sequential action of two enzymes, namely Glyoxylase 1 and Glyoxylase 2. A preferential expression and activity of these enzymes was described in astrocytes that consequently exhibit a greater resistance to MG toxicity than neurons (Bélanger et al., 2012; Allaman et al., 2015).

Put together, these observations indicate that astrocytes are able to easily modulate their energy metabolic pathways (glycolysis or TCA cycle) depending on the substrate availability while neurons are more exclusively oxidative with low possibilities to shift toward glycolysis.

BRAIN ENERGY AND "NEURO-METABOLIC COUPLING"

The brain energy budget

The brain is a high-energy consumer using about 20% of oxygen and 25% of glucose of the body while it represents only 2% of the body mass. This high consumption level is mainly due to the cost of synaptic transmission. More precisely, and if we consider the excitatorv neurotransmission in the cerebral cortex. the maintenance of ionic gradients and the synaptic activity represents about 45% of the total ATP used (Attwell and Laughlin, 2001; Harris et al., 2012). For the inhibitory synapses, which represent only 15% to 20% of the cortical neurons in mammals, the maintenance of membrane potential in post-synaptic elements appears to require less energy since the reversal potential for CI⁻ is closer to the membrane resting potential (Abeles, 1991; Gabbott and Bacon, 1996; Gabbott et al., 1997). Consequently, at the cortical level, about 75% of the energy

consumption depends tightly on the discharge rate of glutamatergic neurons. Based on these considerations, a direct link between excitatory synapses activity and glucose utilization is assumed and serves as the theoretical basis for brain functional imaging using the fluoro-2deoxyglucose (FDG) uptake observed by positron emission tomography (PET) (Phelps et al., 1979).

It was initially thought that in parallel to their augmented activity, neurons increased their glucose uptake. According to this view, glucose taken up by neurons during activation would first be metabolized to pyruvate followed by oxidation through the TCA cycle and oxidative phosphorylation in mitochondria yielding a maximum of ATP molecules for each molecule of glucose.

However, in the 1980s, this view was challenged by a series of PET studies initiated by Raichle and collaborators where they showed that the increase in glucose uptake did not match the oxygen utilization in the visual cortex of humans who performed a visual task (Fox and Raichle, 1986; Fox et al., 1988). These observations, later completed by results showing an increase in lactate in similar conditions (Prichard et al., 1991), clearly suggest that a substantial part of the energy needs of an active brain area comes from the glycolysis (Sappey-Marinier et al., 1992; Fellows et al., 1993; Hedera et al., 1995) see also (Bélanger et al., 2011) for a review).

The "neuro-metabolic coupling" mechanisms

In non-pathological conditions, local neuronal activity can change rapidly and importantly, particularly during sensory or motor stimulations and also during the sleep to waking (or waking to sleep) transitions. Moreover, memory formation and synaptic plasticity are also accompanied by neuronal firing changes that can occur during waking as well as during sleep (Inostroza and Born, 2013). The "neurometabolic coupling" (NMC) corresponds to the phenomenon by which local energy supply (together with the cerebral blood flow) adjusts to variations of the neuronal activity and allow normal neuronal functioning. Mainly due to the difficulty to measure energy metabolism at the cellular levels in vivo, elucidation of the exact mechanisms by which NMC occurs has been challenging. However over the last two decades considerable evidence has been accrued indicating a key role of astrocytes in NMC (for a recent review see (Magistretti and Allaman, 2015)).

Based on the anatomical and biochemical properties of the astrocytes described above, Pellerin and Magistretti proposed a mechanism, by which astrocytes play the role of energy provider through the release of lactate that is used as energy substrate by glutamatergic neurons (Pellerin and Magistretti, 1994). We now briefly describe the different steps of this so-called "astrocyte–neuron lactate shuttle" (ANLS).

As mentioned earlier, the presence of specific transporters on the lamellar processes of astrocytes that ensheath synapses, allows them to take up efficiently neurotransmitters, particularly glutamate released by pre-synaptic elements. Indeed, one of the main functions of astrocytes is to decrease very rapidly

glutamate concentration in the synaptic cleft to prevent its excitotoxicity through activation of N-methyl-p-aspartate (NMDA) receptors and to reduce its "spill-over". Two subtypes of glutamate transporters, namely the glutamate-aspartate transporter (GLAST or EAAT1) and the glutamate transporter type 1 (GLT1 or EAAT2), are predominantly expressed by astrocytes where they are thought to be responsible for the bulk of alutamate uptake (Danbolt, 2001; Zhou and Danbolt, 2013). Glutamate transport though these transporters is electrogenic since it is coupled to an inward co-transport of three sodium ions (Na+) and one proton and with a countertransport of one potassium ion (K+) (Barbour et al., 1988; Kanai et al., 2013). In the primary culture of astrocytes, glutamate uptake activates the Na+, K+-ATPase to maintain the Na+ homeostasis (Pellerin and Magistretti, 1997). Moreover, the glutamate taken up by astrocytes is mainly converted to glutamine (Gln) through glutamine synthase (GS), an enzyme exclusively present in astrocytes, and exported back to the neurons to be, in turn, converted to glutamate. This last mechanism known as the "glutamate-glutamine cycle" (Glu-Gln cycle) is also energy-consuming since one ATP is used for each glutamate molecule converted. These two mechanisms (i.e. Na+, K+-ATPase activation and GLu-Gln cycle) act together to decrease the ATP/ADP ratio triggering glycolysis (Pellerin and Magistretti, 1994).

Another important step in ANLS is the production and release of lactate from astrocytes. In mammals, these reactions are catalyzed by LDH, a family of enzymes including five isoforms, each consisting of tetramers of M and H subunits. The M (muscle or LDH5) and H (heart or LDH1) subunits are encoded by the Ldha (or Ldh1) and the Ldhb (or Ldh2) genes, respectively. Depending on the tissue expression of these isozymes, LDH activity exhibits distinct physical and catalytic properties. For instance, while the M4 and M3H1 isozymes preferentially catalyze the reduction of pyruvate to lactate in tissues such as skeletal muscle, the H4 and H3M1 isozymes oxidize lactate to pyruvate in tissues such as the myocardium. The observation by immunohistochemistry of a prevalence of the LDH1 subunit in neurons while LDH1 and LDH5 were observed in astrocytes of post-mortem brain tissue brought the first support for a specific use of lactate by neurons (Bittar et al., 1996). These results were further confirmed by different studies at level of proteins and mRNAs in rodents and humans (Laughton et al., 2007; Lovatt et al., 2007; O'Brien et al., 2007; Petit et al., 2013). In addition, the NADH/NAD+ ratio that directly reflects the cellular redox state, also regulates the sense of the LDH functioning. This creates a link between the cellular redox state in astrocytes and neurons and the ANLS.

Shuttling of lactate from astrocytes to neurons depends on its transport via specific transporters. Monocarboxylates (i.e. lactate, pyruvate and ketone bodies or acetate) are transported across membranes by specific monocarboxylate transporters (MCTs) belonging to the solute carrier gene family (SLC16) (Halestrap, 2012). Three isoforms of MCTs are present

in the mammalian brain, MCT1, MCT2 and MCT4 which exhibit a regional and cellular-specific distribution (Pierre and Pellerin, 2005; Bergersen, 2007). The MCT1 isoform is mainly expressed by endothelial cells of brain capillaries, by ependymocytes as well as by astrocytes that also express the MCT4 isoform. The MCT2 isoform is almost exclusively found on the neuronal plasma membranes (Bergersen et al., 2005). Lactate transport through MCTs depends principally on lactate and proton concentration gradient. However, since MCTs isoforms display different affinity to L-lactate (km: 4.5 mM, km: 0.75 mM and km: 28 mM for MCT1, MCT2 and MCT4 respectively) (Halestrap, 2012), it also depends of the type of MCT isoform present into the cell membrane. In addition, two recent studies showed that astrocytic lactate could also be released by other ways. In the first study, the twophoton technique was used to measure intracellular lactate content as well as lactate release from astrocytes in the cortex of mice specifically expressing lactate nanosensor in transfected astrocytes. In these animals, a fast lactate release (in seconds) was elicited by electrical stimulation of the somato-sensory cortex which was inhibited by Cd2+ but only slightly decreased by MCTs blocker suggesting that the initial phase of lactate release could be mediated by an ion channel (Sotelo-Hitschfeld et al., 2015). Interestingly, this mode of release allows lactate to flow against its chemical gradient. In the second study, lactate biosensors (cf. "Extra-cellular glucose levels variations" paragraph for technical description) were placed in rat cortical coronal slices to assess changes in extracellular lactate levels ([Lac]_o). In basal conditions these changes are thought to reflect the tonic release of lactate from neural cells. In this experimental model, a marked decrease in [Lac], was observed in response to application of carbenoxolone or probenecid, two blockers of connexin hemichannels and/or pannexins, whereas application of alpha-cyano-cinnamate, a commonly used MCT blocker, was ineffective (Karagiannis et al., 2015). These experiments suggest that mechanisms of lactate release are more complex than previously thought. According to the ANLS model, the lactate should be quickly released to sustain synaptic activity. Such a model fits better with the fast lactate released described by Sotelo-Hitschfeld and co-workers suggesting that, together with the MCTs, ion channel-mediated release might participate in lactate efflux in response to glutamate uptake by astrocytes.

The ANLS has also been confirmed *in vivo*. Thus young mice deficient in the glial glutamate transporters GLT1 or GLAST exhibit a reduced metabolic response (2DG uptake) to whisker stimulation in barrel cortex (Voutsinos-Porche et al., 2003). A similar observation was made in the superior colliculus following visual stimulation in GLT1-KO mice (Herard et al., 2005). More recently, using *in vivo* two-photon microscopy of a fluorescent analog of 2DG (6-NBDG), Chuquet and co-workers showed that 6-NBDG was rapidly and preferentially taken-up by astrocytes during somato-sensory cortex stimulation (Chuquet et al., 2010).

Neuronal activity induces an increase in extracellular potassium concentration $([K+]_o)$ that is buffered by

astrocytes (Kofuii and Newman, 2004). Extracellular K+ is taken up by astrocytes through ion channels and transporters. This influx then dissipates throughout the astrocyte network where cells are connected by gap junctions through which K+ freely diffuses. The increase in [K+]_o also triggers astrocyte membrane depolarization and cell swelling. In parallel, elevated [K+], also stimulates astrocytic glycolysis very rapidly (Bittner et al., 2011, Ruminot et al., 2011). The mechanism by which [K+]_o stimulates glycolysis has been recently described by Barros and collaborators. They showed that astrocyte depolarization activates the Na + /2HCO₃- co-transporter (also named NBCe1 or Slc4a4) which is abundantly expressed by astrocytes (Ruminot et al., 2011). Activation of NBCe1 results in HCO₃- inward flux and in a pH increase. This alkalinization of astrocytes stimulates the PFK, a key enzyme of the glycolysis, and consequently augments the glycolytic rate and the lactate formation (Ruminot et al., 2011). In addition, the rise in intracellular concentration of HCO3- also activates the bicarbonateresponsive soluble adenylyl cyclase (sAC) (Choi et al., 2012). The cyclic AMP (AMPc) newly synthesized induces glycogenolysis and therefore increases glycolysis. Illustrating this role of K+, it is interesting to note that infusion of CSF enriched in K+ (120 mM) in the striatum increased lactate concentration in the extra-cellular fluid while glucose and pyruvate are decreased (Darbin et al., 2006). In addition, as we already mentioned, a physiological rise in K+ applied to hippocampal slice or a cortical electric stimulation in vivo rapidly triggers the release of lactate measured by a lactate-sensitive nanosensor ("Laconic") specifically expressed in astrocytes (Sotelo-Hitschfeld et al., 2015).

Although this review is focused on the role of astrocytes in NMC, a comprehensive view of these mechanisms cannot be presented without considering the participation of neurons themselves to NMC processes. As mentioned earlier, neurons express the molecular machinery to uptake glucose, to metabolize it through glycolysis and to produce ATP through TCA cycle and oxidative phosphorylation. Consequently, regulation of the glucose uptake from extracellular space by neurons could account for NMC and could be independent of the astrocyte energy supply (DiNuzzo et al., 2010). According to this hypothesis and based on the observation that neurons express the glucose transporter type 3 (GLUT3) while astrocytes mainly express GLUT1 (Maher et al., 1991; Vannucci et al., 1997), the modulation of GLUT3 expression at the neuronal membrane surface appears to be one way by which neurons could adapt its energy intake to its activity. As a matter of fact, increase in GLUT3 expression by high [K⁺]_o and NMDA, two markers of the synaptic activity, was shown on cerebellar granule neurons (Maher and Simpson, 1994) and more recently in primary cultures of cortical and hippocampal neurons (Ferreira et al., 2011). However, in vitro and in vivo examples of GLUT3 regulation are almost exclusively shown in nonphysiological conditions such as chronic stimulation or abnormal blood glucose concentration (Duelli and Kuschinsky, 2001).

significant Nevertheless. glucose uptake bv stimulated neuronal cells is suggested by studies where glucose analogs can be tracked in neuronal or glial cell types. Using a micro-autoradiography technique coupled to immunohistochemistry allowing determining the cellular origin of the 2DG uptake in freely moving rats, Nehlig and co-workers showed that ¹⁴C-2DG uptake was equally distributed in astrocytes and neurons (Nehlig et al., 2004). More recently, Lundgaard and collaborators presented some evidence for a preferential uptake of glucose by neuronal cells (2.2–3-fold more than in astrocytes) in the case of cortical activation (Lundgaard et al., 2015). These results were obtained using a novel alucose analog corresponding to a near-infrared 2-deoxyglucose probe (IRDye 800CW 2DG, 2DG-IR). Considering the fact that 2DG-IR is about three times larger than 2DG and larger than the estimated size of the "glucose channel" of transporter (Salas-Burgos et al., 2004), passage of 2DG-IR throughout this channel is difficult to envision. Indeed, it has been suggested that 2DG-IR forms a complex with extracellular GLUT at the glucose binding site (Kovar et al., 2009). Therefore, the preferential accumulation of 2DG-IR into neurons could reflect more endocytosis process of the 2DG-IR-GLUT3 complex rather than glucose transport. These results were challenged by those obtained by imaging the trafficking of a 6-NBDG in astrocytes and neurons during cortical stimulation (Chuquet et al., 2010).

In summary, both neurons and astrocytes can take up glucose via GLUT3 and GLUT1 respectively. However, during activation, neurons have limited possibilities to up-regulate glucose metabolism and resort to astrocytederived lactate to meet their energy requirements (see (Magistretti and Allaman, 2015), for a review). As previously mentioned, glucose directly taken-up by neurons is likely funneled toward the PPP to regenerate anti-oxidants.

Glycogen, which is the only form of glucose storage in the brain, plays also an important role in the NMC mechanisms. Glycogen, constituted by a branched polymer of glucose that forms dense granules visualized by electron microscopy (Phelps, 1972), is almost exclusively localized in astrocytes (Cataldo and Broadwell, 1986). Glycogen levels are regulated by the balance between enzymatic synthesis through Glycogen Synthase (GlyS) and enzymatic breakdown through glycogen phosphorylase (GPhos); both enzymes are regulated by phos phorylation/dephosphorylation cascades. In addition, GlyS activation depends on protein phosphatase 1 (PPP1) activity which is targeted to glycogen molecules through the action of its regulatory subunit PTG (for protein targeting to glycogen, also named PPP1r3c) (Doherty et al., 1996; Printen et al., 1997). Interestingly, transcriptional activation of PTG in astrocytes favors glycogen synthesis through GlyS activation (Allaman et al., 2000). In the cerebral cortex, several neurotransmitters such as noradrenaline (NA), serotonin, dopamine, adenosine, histamine and vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP) promote a rapid glycogenolysis (Hutchins and Rogers, 1970; Magistretti et al., 1981; Sorg and Magistretti, 1991; Allaman et al., 2003) followed by a delayed (within hours) glycogen re-synthesis involving transcriptional and translational

activation (Sorg and Magistretti, 1992; Cardinaux and Magistretti, 1996). Thus, most of monoaminergic neurotransmitters which are released during waking exert a biphasic effect on glycogen levels, leading within a few hours to an over-compensation of the initial short-term degradation they induced (Petit et al., 2015). The role of glycogen as energy reserve to support neuronal activity has been studied using isolated optic nerve from mice (Wender et al., 2000; Brown et al., 2005). In this model they showed that glycogen is still mobilized when neuron is highly stimulated in normoglycemic conditions indicating a role for glycogen in physiological conditions (Tekkök et al., 2005).

Interestingly, lactate constitutes the preferential fate of the alucose-6-phosphate derived from alvcogenolysis (Dringen et al., 1993; Tekkök et al., 2005). This was more recently confirmed in different in vivo learning experiments where glycogen-derived lactate was clearly involved in memory formation (Newman et al., 2011; Suzuki et al., 2011). For example, during an inhibitory avoidance test, pharmacological blockade of glycogenolvsis by the GPhos inhibitor 1,4-dideoxy-1,4-imino-Darabinitol (DAB) inhibits long-term memory formation (Suzuki et al., 2011). Similar results were obtained by knocking down the MCT1, MCT4 and MCT2 expression with anti-sense RNA before the test (Suzuki et al., 2011). Similarly, glycogen mobilization blockade during a spontaneous alternation task impairs the rise of lactate concentration normally observed and leads to a loss of performance (Newman et al., 2011). Considering these experiments, glycogen seems to preferentially serve as energy reserve for learning or plasticity mechanisms, at least in normoglycemic conditions.

This set of data indicates that NMC is likely achieved by the combination of several mechanisms acting with different time courses during the local neuronal activation. First, the rise in $[K+]_{0}$ accompanying the presynaptic depolarization triggers an initial wave of (membrane astrocytic changes depolarization, $[HCO_3-]\uparrow pH\downarrow$ that activates glycolysis leading to the lactate production. A very fast glycogenolysis can, in parallel, fuel the glycolysis with glycogen-derived glucose-6-P. The second and more prolonged wave is induced by synaptic glutamate release which, through its uptake by astrocytes, triggers the ANI S mechanisms. We should also consider the concomitant role of other neurotransmitters such as monoamines (NA, histamine, serotonin), to reset a new equilibrium between glycogen synthesis and degradation, contributing to the reestablishment of glycogen levels in astrocytes. Taken together, these mechanisms underline the prime role of astrocytes in NMC and the role of lactate as energy fuel for neurons. In addition, these data also point to glutamate and K+ released by active neurons as the main mediators of the coupling.

NMC MECHANISMS THROUGHOUT THE SLEEP-WAKE CYCLE

Determining in parallel the variations of the different energy metabolites in the blood, extracellular space and into the neuronal and alial compartments throughout the different vigilance states is theoretically required to identify the NMC mechanisms in charge of energy homeostasis. Obviously, such measurements in the same animal are not possible today. However, dynamic measurements of glucose consumption (2-DG and F-DG-PET) have been repeatedly used in waking and sleeping animals and humans. Moreover. recent developments allow energy technical following metabolites (mainly, glucose and lactate) in freely moving animals chronically equipped for polygraphic recordings with a good time resolution. Results obtained with these different approaches are presented in the following sections and are analyzed in light of the previously described NMC mechanisms.

Cerebral glucose uptake

PET or 2DG experiments conducted in different animal species throughout sleep-wake cycle, clearly showed that brain glucose consumption decreases globally during SWS relative to waking and PS (Kennedy et al., 1981; Jay et al., 1985; Ramm and Frost, 1986; Vyazovskiy et al., 2008). These results are in agreement with the global change in the neuronal firing pattern during SWS episodes mirrored by EEG waves of lower frequency (Peña et al., 1999; Vyazovskiy et al., 2009). Similar results were obtained in humans (Heiss et al., 1985; Buchsbaum et al., 1989; Nofzinger et al., 2002). However, some limbic regions (amygdala, hippocampus, hypothalamus) exhibit increased local glucose uptake (LGCU) during SWS. Compared to waking, LGCU measured during PS is selectively enhanced in several brain structures such as in pontine tegmentum, thalamus, amygdala, hippocampus and in temporo-occipital cortical areas. The metabolic activity of the hippocampus during SWS (and also during PS) likely reflects the memory processing occurring in this structure during these stages (Pevrache et al., 2011: Rasch and Born, 2013), Moreover, the relative metabolic activity maintained during sleep in limbic areas is in line with the emotional content of dreams collected after PS episodes (McNamara et al., 2010; Siclari et al., 2013) as well as the impairment of PS in mood disorders (Palagini et al., 2013). These observations also suggest that NMC mechanisms should display some regional variations throughout the sleep-wake cycle.

PET scan performed in humans maintained awaken following 32 h of total sleep deprivation (TSD) indicate that LGCU was significantly decreased in the thalamus, basal ganglia, cerebellum and limbic regions (Wu et al., 1991). These results were confirmed after 24 h of TSD by Thomas and co-workers who also observed a decrease in LCGU in the prefrontal cortex (Thomas et al., 2000). Interestingly, cognitive performance impairments induced by TSD were correlated with the LGCU decrease in basal ganglia and thalamus suggesting that a possible causal link between cognitive impairments and the decrease in LCGU in these structures. Vyazovskiy and collaborators found that mice that are maintained awake two hours more following 6 h of TSD displayed greater LCGU than mice that slept two hours following the TSD (Vyazovskiy et al., 2008). According to the Cirelli and Tononi's hypothesis (also known as "synaptic homeostasis hypothesis of sleep") that proposes a synaptic re-scaling during sleep leading to a selective elimination of the synapses less used in previous waking episodes (Tononi and Cirelli, 2006), these authors proposed that this increase in glucose consumption reflects the continuing increase in synaptic weight during wakefulness. Considering these contradictory results, we should note that 6 h of TSD in mice represent about 50-60% of its total sleep time whereas 24 h of TSD in humans correspond to 100% of the total sleep time. Consequently, one could expect that 6-8 h of wakefulness extension in rodents do not overcome the capacity of NMC mechanisms whereas 24 h of continuous wakefulness in humans might have a more negative impact on theses mechanisms. Supporting this absence of LCGU deficit in mice after TSD, an increase in the levels of mRNA encoding GLUT1 has been repeatedly reported following TSD in rats (Cirelli and Tononi, 2000), mice (Petit et al., 2010) and crowned sparrows (Jones et al., 2008). Such an increase might contribute to LCGU maintenance in the rodent brain in spite of prolonged energy demand.

Extra-cellular glucose levels variations

Determination of the basal extracellular concentration of glucose ([Gluc]_o) in the brain was first determined by microdialysis and determined to be 0.47 mM in the striatum (Fellows et al., 1993). Further experiments gave higher [Gluc]_o values in the hippocampus (\approx 1.5 mM) of freely moving rats (Rex et al., 2009) and similar values were also obtained in human hippocampus (≈1.6 mM) (Abi-Saab et al., 2002). However, time resolution of microdialysis (about 5-10 min/sample) does not match the mean duration of SWS or PS episodes in rodents, thus limiting its use for sleep studies. This problem has been circumvented by the development of the enzymebased sensors. Briefly, these sensors are constituted by a layer of the enzyme glucose oxidase grafted on a metallic electrode (a platinum wire) and covered by a protective layer of a polymer allowing glucose passage. Oxidation of glucose generates H₂O₂ molecules that are reduced on the electrode which is set at the H₂O₂ oxido-reduction potential. Such biosensors have been successfully used to determine basal levels of [Gluc]_o in the brain of anesthetized rats, providing values estimated around 2.5 mM (Netchiporouk et al., 1996; Hu and Wilson, 1997) which are values higher than [Gluc]o previously determined by microdialysis.

Using this technique to determine $[Gluc]_o$ throughout vigilance states in the rat somato-sensory cortex, Netchiporouk and co-workers showed that $[Gluc]_o$ was significantly higher during SWS (+12.9%) and lower during PS (-11.4%) when compared to wakefulness (Netchiporouk et al., 2001). Similar results were obtained by other groups who described a gradual increase in $[Gluc]_o$ during SWS episodes while $[Gluc]_o$ decreased progressively throughout PS episodes (Naylor et al., 2012; Dash et al., 2013). Working with a biosensor allowing better time resolution (one measure/s), these authors performed a more precise analysis and showed that,

during wake episodes, [Gluc]o displayed biphasic changes with a marked decrease in the early part (the first 7-8 min) followed by a slower increase (Naylor et al., 2012; Dash et al., 2013). Depending of the duration of the wake episodes, [Gluc], returns to baseline values but can also reach levels higher than at the beginning of the wake episodes (Dash et al., 2009; Naylor et al., 2012). [Gluc]_o variations over 24 h are lower at the end of the dark (active) period than at the beginning of this period (Dash et al., 2013). The decrease in cortical [Gluc]_o observed during waking is in agreement with the [Gluc]_o decline observed during behavioral activation (McNay et al., 2000; Li and Freeman, 2015) and its uptake by astrocytes observed during neuronal stimulation (Chuquet et al., 2010; Bittner et al., 2011) that reflects the activation of the NMC mechanisms described above. The recovery of [Gluc]_o at the end of the waking episodes might result from a new equilibrium between the glycolysis, the glycogen synthesis and the energy used by neurons. This equilibrium should be more and more rapidly reached over the active period as reflected by the more pronounced [Gluc]_o recovery observed at the end of this period than at its beginning.

Prolonged wakefulness should exacerbate the [Gluc]_o variations observed during spontaneous waking periods in rodents. As a matter of fact, when a 3-h TSD is performed, [Gluc]_o exhibited an initial decline for about 15 min followed by an increase that reached, 45 min after, a value higher than the [Gluc]_o at the beginning of the TSD (Dash et al., 2013). A similar pattern of [Gluc]_o was also obtained for longer TSD in mice (Naylor et al., 2012). Related to its role in LCGU maintenance during TSD (see 2.1.2. above), cellular glucose uptake capacity is associated by increased expression of GLUT1 mRNA (Cirelli and Tononi, 2000; Jones et al., 2008; Petit et al., 2010). However, the over-compensation of [Gluc]_o observed after TSD could be explained by a decrease in extracellular glucose uptake caused by the preferential use of glycogen-derived glucose in astrocyte (see 3.4. hereafter). Moreover, gene expression levels assessed in a cortical astrocyte-enriched fraction determined by fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) in sleepdeprived mice (6 h of instrumental TSD) indicated that Glut1 mRNA was preferentially increased in astrocytes rather than in epithelial or other glial cells (Petit et al., 2013). In contrast expression of the neuronal glucose transporter GLUT3 did not change in mice following 6 h of "gentle sleep deprivation" (Petit et al., 2010). These results suggest that mechanisms to support glucose uptake after prolonged wakefulness are possibly predominantly expressed in astrocytes

Extra-cellular lactate-level variations

Changes in extracellular lactate levels ($[Lac]_o$) across the sleep-wake cycle have been determined with the same methodological approaches than those used for glucose. Using the biosensors where lactate oxidase is used instead of glucose oxidase (Shram et al., 1997), Shram and co-workers showed that cortical [Lac]_o significantly declines during SWS relative to waking (-16%) while this decrease is more limited during PS (-9%)

(Shram et al., 2002). In addition, when rats underwent a short stress (water-puff), a rise of $[Lac]_o$ (+53%) was observed for the following 15 min, indicating a high sensitivity of $[Lac]_o$ to stressful events. Using biosensors with a better time-resolution, other groups also showed a progressive increase in $[Lac]_o$ during wake and PS episodes and a decrease during SWS episodes (Naylor et al., 2012; Dash et al., 2013; Wisor et al., 2013). When the sleep–wake cycle over a 24-h period was analyzed, $[Lac]_o$ displayed a daily variation with higher values during the dark (active) period, in agreement with more elevated $[Lac]_o$

during wake (Dash et al., 2013). Interestingly, in the same experiments, extracellular tension of oxygen ([Oxy]_o) also increased during SWS periods and decreased during waking (Dash et al., 2013). However, the magnitude of [Oxy]_o changes for waking episodes was related to locomotor activity whereas the [Lac]_o decline was independent to locomotor activity. In contrast, when their variations were measured in the first 4 h of the light period (when sleep pressure is high) or in the first 4 h of the dark period (when the sleep pressure is low), [Oxy]_o were not related to the SWA whereas [Lac]_o exhibited a clear



Fig. 1. Schematic view of neuro-metabolic coupling mechanisms and related pathways. (i) pH buffering (orange pathway). Abundant carbonic anhydrase (CA) in astrocytes converts CO_2 into H + and HCO₃-. Two HCO₃- are transported into the extracellular space along with one Na + via the Na + -HCO₃- co-transporter (NBC), thereby increasing the extracellular buffering power. Protons left in the glial compartment might drive the transport of lactate (Lac) outside of astrocytes and into neurons through MCTs. Excess H + in neurons is extruded via sodium–hydrogen exchange (NHE). (ii) ANLS (green pathway). Glutamate (Glu) uptake by astrocytes is accompanied by Na + entry, which is extruded by the action of the Na +/K + ATPase. This triggers glycolysis in astrocytes and glucose uptake from the circulation through GLUT1. The lactate produced is shuttled to neurons through MCTs, where it can be used as an energy substrate after its conversion to pyruvate (Pyr). Neurons can also take up glucose via the neuronal GLUT3. (iii) Glycogen metabolism (purple pathway). Astrocytes store glucose under the form of glycogen. Glycogen synthesis is controlled by glycogen synthase and by the non-catalytic sub-unit of the protein phosphatase 1 (PTG). The degradation is controlled by the glycogen phosphorylase (GPhos). (iv) Glu–glutamine cycle (red pathway). Glu released into the synaptic cleft activates ionotropic glutamatergic receptors (GluR), producing a postsynaptic depolarization. Astrocytic excitatory amino acid transporters (EAATs) are responsible for the uptake of a large fraction of Glu at the synapse. Glu is converted into the extracellular space as a result of neuronal activity [e.g. through inwardly rectifying K + channels (Kir)]. K + ions travel through the astrocytic network via gap junctions (GJ) down their concentration gradient and are released in sites of lower concentration. Modified from Allaman et al. (2011).

correlation (Dash et al., 2013). Therefore, the $[Lac]_o$ that is linked to glycolytic activity might be a marker of sleep pressure while O₂-dependent energy metabolism might be related to neuronal activity. A more accurate analysis of the relationship between the lactate concentration decline and the relative EEG power during SWS indicated that larger density in slow EEG frequencies promoted $[Lac]_o$ decline while faster EEG frequencies had the opposite effect (Wisor et al., 2013) (See Fig. 1).

In keeping with observations about the extracellular lactate levels observed during waking, 3h of sleep deprivation induced an increase in cortical [Lac]_o which



Fig. 2. Multiple sleep/wake cycles recorded using simultaneous electroencephalographic and (A) lactate/glutamate biosensors or (B) lactate/ glucose biosensors plotted during the lights-on period. Epochs scored as wake are noted in red, Non-Rapid Eye Movement (NREM) sleep epochs are colored blue, and rapid eye movement (REM) sleep epochs are indicated in green. Concentration change for each analyte is indicated on the y-axis. The lower graphs (C, D) correspond to time periods on the upper graphs indicted by the solid box. In all expanded graphs, lactate concentration change is plotted in a manner similar to that of the large-scale graphs with colors indicating sleep/wake state and the secondary analyte (C) glutamate or (D) glucose plotted as on overlay in fuchsia or orange, respectively. From Naylor et al. (2012).

lasted as long as TSD (Naylor et al., 2012; Dash et al., 2013). Similar increases have also been observed by microdialysis in the basal forebrain (Kalinchuk et al., 2003) suggesting that NMC mechanisms involving [Lac]_o changes are probably not restricted to the cerebral cortex. The exaggerated decline of [Lac]_o during sleep recovery was correlated to SWA rebound (Dash et al., 2013) and the induction of EEG frequencies <1 Hz by optogenetic stimulation of cortical pyramidal cells during waking triggers [Lac]_o decrease (Wisor et al., 2013). Based on these data, the idea that [Lac]_o might be a mediator of the sleep homeostasis was recently tested (Rempe and Wisor, 2015). Although the [Lac], dynamics did not display exactly the same time constant that the SWA dynamics. the [Lac]o remains a biomarker of the waking duration or otherwise, a biomarker of the sleep pressure (Navlor et al., 2012; Rempe and Wisor, 2015) (See Fig. 2).

Glycogen regulations throughout the sleep-wake cycle

This section briefly reviews the evidence of the occurrence of glycogen regulation when wakefulness was prolonged. For additional details the reader is referred to a recent review (Petit et al., 2015).

In 1983. Karnovsky and collaborators observed a marked decrease in brain glycogen levels following waking compared to sleep levels (Karnovsky et al., 1983). These results led Bennington and Heller to propose a hypothesis according to which one of the roles of SWS is to replenish glycogen stores used during wakefulness to produce ATP (Benington and Heller, 1995). This hypothesis has been extensively tested in different species using different durations of TSD as experimental paradigms (for reviews see (Scharf et al., 2008; Petit et al., 2015)). Contrary to results predicted glycogen levels remained stable or displayed a tendency to increase following 6-h SD (Gip et al., 2002; Franken et al., 2003; Petit et al., 2010). In a set of experiments we showed that an increase in PTG mRNA and in glycogen synthase (GSynt) activity was observed in the cortex of sleep-deprived mice (Petit et al., 2002, 2010). In addition, by measuring the ¹³C-labeled glucose incorporation into glycogen by nuclear magnetic spectroscopy in rats maintained awake for 5 h, Morgenthaler and co-workers showed that glycogen turnover was increased whereas alvcogen levels remain unchanged (Morgenthaler et al., 2009). Altogether, these results indicate that, in addition to glycogen degradation induced by the neuronal release of neurotransmitters such as NA, VIP and Ade as well as by increases in $[K +]_{o}$, glycogen metabolism during wakefulness is shifted toward its synthesis leading to a new steady-state and a conservation of glycogen stores.

An integrative view of the NMC mechanisms throughout the sleep–wake cycle

Because biosensors do not allow to determine the origin of the measured extracellular metabolites, the increase in $[Lac]_o$ and the concomitant decrease in $[Gluc]_o$ are open to different interpretations. Thus $[Gluc]_o$ decline could result from a preferential and massive use of

glucose by neurons whereas the increase in [Lac], could reflect the release of lactate produced by neuronal glycolysis and to a lesser degree by astrocytes according to the view proposed by Dienel, DiNuzzo and others (Dienel, 2013; Lundgaard et al., 2015). In this case, [Lac]_o should eventually be eliminated from extracellular space by astrocytes re-uptake and release into the circulation. However, due to limitation in alucose utilization and in glycolysis up-regulation in neurons as described earlier (Herrero-Mendez et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2014), this seems unlikely. The accumulation of [Lac]_o could in fact reflect a massive production by astrocytes not matched by the neuronal uptake capacity. Therefore, the decline in [Gluc]_o could mainly correspond to its uptake by astrocytes to support alvcolvsis and alvcogen synthesis according to NMC mechanisms stimulation and in particular the ANLS. However, neurons also likely participate in this decrease by supplying glucose to their PPP in order to fight efficiently against the reactive oxygen species.

Measurements of extracellular concentrations of glutamate ([Glut]_o) using specific biosensors in the same experimental conditions (John et al., 2008; Dash et al., 2009; Naylor et al., 2012) support this involvement of ANLS. Indeed, [Glut]_o variations which reflect glutamatergic activity (Rutherford et al., 2007), mirror the [Lac]_o changes throughout the sleep-wake cycle. The [Glut]_o variations have been also measured during the sleepwake cycle by microdialysis and confirmed that higher levels are observed during waking compared to SWS (Lopez-Rodriguez et al., 2007). These results are consistent with the ANLS model in which glutamate is removed from extracellular space by astrocytes according to its gradient. This uptake triggers a cascade of events leading to lactate production and release by astrocytes (Pellerin and Magistretti, 2012). Consistent with this view, the astrocytic glutamate transporters GLAST and GLT1 are both transcriptionally induced following TSD (Cirelli and Tononi, 2000). Indeed, these two astrocyte-specific glutamate transporters are key operators of the ANLS. In line with the role of astrocytes glutamate transporters in ANLS, it has been recently shown that UP state occurrence was regulated by pharmacological modulation of astrocytes glutamate uptake in cortical slices (Poskanzer and Yuste, 2015). This suggests that astrocytes are involved in the fine tuning of the UP-states, a relevant mechanism for EEG synchronization during SWS (cf. "sleep-wake cycle structure and regulation" paragraph), through the regulation of glutamate transmission. A direct evidence that ANLS is linked to the wakefulness was given at the hypothalamus level by Parsons and Hirasawa who showed that orexinergic neurons specifically used lactate synthesized in astrocytes as an energy source in the presence of physiological [Gluc]o levels (Parsons and Hirasawa, 2010).

Another important step in ANLS corresponds to the lactate production in astrocytes and its neuronal oxidation in pyruvate which are coupled to inverse changes in NAD+/NADH in these two types of cells. Using a chronically implanted optic fiber, spectroscopic measurements of NADH–NADPH levels in the frontal

cortex of rat were performed during vigilance states in freely moving animals (Mottin et al., 1997). In spite of a very slight increase during PS, these levels remained unchanged for waking and SWS. Unfortunately, this interesting technical approach did not allow distinguishing between different cellular compartments as the source of the signal. Therefore, even if this technical approach could assess the redox state of a brain region, it could not give any information about ANLS throughout the sleep-wake cycle.

"Swinging" of energy metabolism between astrocytes and neurons throughout the sleep–wake cycle

As reviewed, astrocytic glycolysis plays a crucial role during waking. In these cells, the decline of neuronal energy demand during sleep induces a decrease in glycolytic rate and possibly a re-orientation of the pyruvate toward mitochondrial metabolism which matches the rise in cortical ATP observed during sleep (Dworak et al., 2010). During waking the acidification of the cytosol by the H⁺-glutamate co-transport decreases the metabolism in mitochondria located at the vicinity of the glutamate transporters in astrocytic process (Azarias et al., 2011; Genda et al., 2011). Therefore, one can expect that sleep corresponds to a state acting in favor of mitochondrial metabolism for astrocytes.

Accompanying the global decrease in firing rate, neuronal energy needs decline and lactate is less used by neurons. In addition, as reflected by the [Gluc]_o rise, extracellular glucose availability increases due to the decrease in glucose consumption by astrocytes. This probably strengthens the shift from lactate to glucose as main energy substrate for neurons. Therefore, we can expect that a limited increase in neuronal glycolysis accompanies this change. This limited glycolysis activation might increase methylglyoxal in these cells since methylglyoxylase is less expressed in neurons (see Bélanger et al., 2012). Interestingly, administration of methylglyoxal into the cerebral ventricle of mice induced SWS likely through activation of GABAA receptors (Jakubcakova et al., 2013). Hence, neuronal glycolysis might participate in sleep maintenance by this mechanism.

Furthermore, it has been shown that the reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide cofactors NADH and NADPH stimulate the DNA-binding activity of the heterodimeric NPAS2-BMAL1 transcription factor which constitutes a molecular component of the cellular circadian clock (Rutter et al., 2001). Therefore, the decrease in the NAD+/NADH ratio accompanying the neuronal lactate utilization during waking episodes impact the cellular circadian clock through the modulation of NPAS2-BMAL1 activity. Interestingly, the gene encoding the A isoform of LDH is induced by the NPAS2-BMAL1 activation (Reick et al., 2001; Rutter et al., 2001). Since LDHA isoform preferentially directs toward lactate synthesis rather than pyruvate synthesis, this suggests that neuronal lactate utilization might induce a negative feedback loop acting through the molecular clock mechanisms.

Opposite changes between oxidative metabolism in neurons and astrocytes across the sleep-wake cycle have been already described fifty years ago by Hydén and Lange in the reticular formation of the rabbit (Hydén and Lange, 1965). However, according to these results, such a shift in energy metabolism could be different depending on the brain area. Interestingly, this concept of "metabolic swing" between neurons and astrocytes across the sleep-wake cycle could add a cellular level to the "energy allocation function of sleep" recently stated by Schmidt (Schmidt, 2014). In this model, sleep-wake cycling is presented as an optimization of energy utilization in which energy is allocated to "biological investment" related to cellular housekeeping, network reorganization or immune function during sleep and reallocated to "waking effort" corresponding to behaviors requiring vigilance and mobility (foraging, nest building, parental care, reproduction, etc...) during waking (Schmidt, 2014).

The role of the locus coeruleus in NMC mechanisms during the sleep–wake cycle

At the forebrain level, NA is released from axonal boutons which originate from the locus coeruleus (LC) (Jones and Yang, 1985). Indeed, the LC located in the dorso-lateral pontine tegmentum nucleus constitutes one of the main clusters of NA-containing neurons (Berridge and Waterhouse, 2003). State-dependent neuronal discharge has long suggested a role of this system in the induction of an alert waking state (Jouvet, 1969). LC neurons exhibit a higher discharge rate during waking than during SWS and become silent during PS (Aston-Jones and Bloom, 1981; Takahashi et al., 2010). Remarkably, changes in LC discharge rate anticipate the new behavioral state suggesting a causal role for LC-NA system in sleep–wake alternation (Berridge, 2008).

NA also exerts an important role in the transcriptional activity during waking. Using the neurotoxin DSP-4 (N-(2-chloroethyl)-N-ethyl-2-bromobenzylamine) to induce specific degeneration of cortical LC projections, it was shown that NA depletion causes the decrease in different mRNAs involved in energy metabolism (mainly mitochondrial genes) as well as the glial glutamate transporter GLAST (30% of decrease) (Cirelli and Tononi, 2004). This suggests that tonic noradrenergic release present during waking could maintain the synthesis of proteins involved in energy production or in NMC. As an illustration, an impairment of the cortical oxidative metabolism in response to stimulation was reported following the destruction of the LC (LaManna et al., 1981).

A direct impact of LC projections on astrocytes was first suggested by the increase in astrocytic intracellular [Ca2+] observed following electrical stimulation of the LC *in vivo* (Bekar et al., 2008). More recently, it was shown that locomotion-induced NA cortical release enhanced astrocyte Ca2+ signaling in different areas through activation of alpha-adrenoreceptors (Paukert et al., 2015). In addition and as previously described, NA plays a crucial role in glycogen mobilization and resynthesis. *In vitro*, an acute application of NA induces a short-term glycogenolysis followed by long-term glycogen resynthesis (Allaman et al., 2003), an effect in agreement with the phasic mode of discharge (>2 Hz) of LC neurons in vivo (Berridge, 2008) which occurs in response to stimuli in all sensory modalities related to environmental novelty (Foote et al., 1980). Hence, bursts of cortical NA release, likely induce a local, rapid and pronounced glycogenolysis. Together with a co-activation of the glutamatergic synapses, the phasic NA release increases energy availability in the new recruited cortical network induced by a new and salient stimulus. This is in line with the "network reset" theory of the LC function as suggested by Bouret and Sara (2005). We should note that this coordinated action of NA and glutamate might act similar to the convergent action of LC fibers and bipolar VIP-immunoreactive interneurons to locally amplify the cortical glycogen mobilization as previously suggested by Magistretti et al. (1981), Magistretti and Morrison (1988).

Based on its glycogenolytic action on astrocytes (Arbonés et al., 1990; Magistretti et al., 1993; Sakata et al., 1997), histamine which displays a clear wakefulness-promoting action (Lin et al., 2011), might also play a role in NMC mechanisms during waking.

Interactions between the release of ATP, adenosine and NMC mechanisms

The direct implication of astrocytes in sleep regulation mechanisms has been shown by using transgenic mice expressing a dominant negative SNARE domain of the synaptobrevin II (dnSNARE) specifically in astrocytes (Pascual et al., 2005). In these mice the astrocytic vesicular release of ATP evoked by a rise in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ was blocked (Pascual et al., 2005). Because adenosine is the end-product of ATP degradation at extracellular sites by ecto-nucleotidase enzymes (Heinrich et al., 2012; Zimmermann et al., 2012), this absence of ATP release by astrocytes decreased the extracellular adenosine (Pascual et al., 2005). In line with the hypnogenic effects of adenosine (Porkka-Heiskanen and Kalinchuk, 2011). the dnSNARE mice exhibit a reduced accumulation of low-frequency SWA (in the 0.5-1.5-Hz window) during the TSD, an effect mimicked by the A1receptor antagonist CPT (Halassa et al., 2009). Even if one should notice that ATP and adenosine released by neuronal cells could also participate in an auto-inhibitory action of extracellular adenosine (Lovatt et al., 2012) and that astrocytic ATP could be released through pannexins (non-selective channels sharing homology with innexins that corresponds to connexins in insects) (Iglesias et al., 2009), these experiments show that adenosine-derived astrocytes participate in the genesis of slow-wave cortical rhythms. Astrocytic ATP release results from the rise in $[Ca^{2+}]_{l}$ mainly caused by AMPA and NMDA receptors activation in response to glutamatergic neurotransmission (Porter and McCarthy, 1995; Hamilton et al., 2008). In this instance, glutamate plays a role in coupling synaptic activity to adenosine accumulation, an actions that fits the building of sleep pressure. Interestingly, glutamatestimulated ANLS and ATP release, might take place in different astrocytes. Indeed, studies mainly based on electrophysiological astrocytes properties suggest the existence in two distinct types of astrocytes (McKhann

et al., 1997). More precisely, in the mouse hippocampus, most of astrocytes expressing AMPA receptors displayed voltage-dependent currents but did not express glutamate transporters (GLT1 or GLAST) whereas astrocytes expressing glutamate transporters exhibit some passive voltage-current relationships, (Zhou and Kimelberg, 2001; Matthias et al., 2003). Although this functional segregation was not clearly described in all brain structures, it suggests that astrocytes in charge of ANLS to maintain synaptic energy supply might be different to those releasing ATP and involved in [adenosine]_o accumulation.

NMC mechanisms and sleep disturbances

Durina physiological sleep-wake cvcle. NMC mechanisms operate in concert with the neuronal firing rate variations. As we described earlier, gene-related ANLS expression (Cirelli, 2006; Petit et al., 2013), glycogen metabolism (Petit et al., 2010) and biosensors experiments provide evidences for the adaptation of NMC mechanisms allowing a sufficient synaptic energy supply during a moderate wakefulness extension (6-8 h) in rodents. Whether such adaptations remain efficient when sleep loss increases or is chronically repeated is still mostly unknown. When rats underwent 11-12 days of continuous TSD, 2DG uptake was decreased in the occipital cortex, hypothalamus and limbic areas (Everson et al., 1994). Using a similar sleep deprivation technique (i.e. the "disc over water" developed by Rechtschaffen and Bergmann (1995)) Cirelli and co-workers showed that 8 days of continuous TSD in rats failed to reproduce the increase in genes related to energy metabolism as observed following height hours of TSD (Cirelli et al., 2006). However, such long-term TSD clearly constitutes an extreme condition that does not reflect sleep loss observed in human pathological conditions. In humans, a daily sleep restriction of 1-2 h associated with difficulties for initiating, maintaining or finishing sleep is a hallmark of insomnia, the most prevalent sleep disorder in the general population (\approx 15% of the population in western countries) (Ohayon and Roth, 2001; Morin et al., 2006). Unfortunately, the NMC mechanisms were not investigated in a chronic sleep restriction model. Recently, a reduction of the adenosinergic tone has been reported following three days of sleep restriction in mice suggesting a possible decrease of the source of adenosine and therefore of ATP formation, notably in astrocytes (Genda et al., 2011). Moreover, an "hyperarousal" corresponding to a hyperactivity of the waking systems was hypothesized to explain insomnia (O'Byrne et al., 2014). One of the arguments of this hypothesis is based on FDG-PET studies that showed a pattern of whole-brain hypermetabolism across waking and sleep states and a failure in the decline in glucose metabolism from waking to sleep states suggesting a persistent activity in wakepromoting structures in insomniac patients (Nofzinger et al., 2004). In this context, limiting the neuronal energy supply by acting on NMC mechanisms could reduce the hyperactivity as it has been shown by inhibiting the LDH on an in vitro model of epilepsy (Sada et al., 2015). Since the orexin/hypocretin neurons use astrocyte-derived lactate as main energy substrate (Parsons and

Hirasawa, 2010) these wakefulness-promoting neurons could be a target of such an approach.

Sleep fragmentation (SF) is also another common sleep disturbance related to sleep apnea syndrome (SAS), periodic limb movement disorder or chronic pain accompanying different pathologies. With the aim to mimic such sleep disturbances, we recently developed a murine model of chronic SF in which mice underwent 15 days of continuous SF (Baud et al., 2013). In this paradigm, we did not observe any induction of ANLS- or glycogen-related genes when measurements were performed at the end of the rest period of the last day of SF (Baud et al., 2014). However, at the same time point 2DG uptake measured following a short exploratory task was lower in the hippocampus of sleep-fragmented mice (M.O. Baud, unpublished observations) suggesting an impairment of the NMC by chronic SF. Interestingly, in this model, sleep quantities are preserved. Together with TSD experiments results, these suggest that sleep loss might have a stronger impact on ANLS transcriptional regulation than SF even if sustained SF impairs glucose uptake in response to a behavioral challenge. Concerning the SAS, the role of intermittent hypoxia that repeatedly occurs during sleep should also be considered. Independently to the SF, the intermittent hypoxia exert various metabolic effects (Arnardottir et al., 2009) that can directly interact with NMC mechanisms. In fact, it has been shown that hypoxia increased brain nitrogen oxide (NO) and the transcription factor HIF-1 α which in turn stimulated the expression of glycolytic enzymes and lactate transporter MCT4 in astrocytes (Brix et al., 2012; Rosafio and Pellerin, 2014).

THE ROLE OF THE ASTROCYTE NETWORK

Astrocytes form local networks through Gap-junctions

As mentioned earlier, astrocytes are interconnected through gap junctions which are constituted by two hemi-channels situated face to face on two neighboring astrocytes. A hemi-channel (or connexon) is composed by the association of six molecules of connexin. In astrocytes, two main types of connexins, connexin 43 (Cx43) and connexin 30 (Cx30) constitute the connexons (Theis et al., 2005). In the cerebral cortex, interconnected astrocytes form some networks that delineate morpho-functional territories. For example, in mouse somatosensory cortex, the astrocyte network is restricted to a "barrel" that constitutes the columnar organization corresponding to the receptive field of one vibrissae (Houades et al., 2008). Astrocytes located between barrels (i.e. in the septum) are less coupled whereas astrocytes into barrel are more intensively and radially connected suggesting a role of this network in sensory information processing (Giaume, 2010).

Neuronal activity impacts Cx30

This gap junction-mediated coupling can also be regulated by different extracellular and intracellular factors. Neurotransmitters such as NA, glutamate as well as K+ modulate coupling in cultured astrocytes (Giaume et al., 1991; Enkvist and McCarthy, 1994). At a molecular level, the Cx43 is regulated by phosphorylation (Kanemitsu et al., 1997) and the phosphorylated form is associated to decreased degree of coupling (Li et al., 1998) whereas Cx30 is regulated at the transcriptional level rather than by phosphorylation/dephosphorylation. Different *in vitro* (Koulakoff et al., 2008) and *in vivo* (Roux et al., 2011) studies indicate that Cx30 transcription is modulated by neuronal activity. Thus, an increase in cortical Cx30 mRNA levels (+40%) was observed in cDNA micro-arrays study following TSD or after spontaneous waking in rats (Cirelli and Tononi, 2000).

Our results following modafinil administration in mice at a dose of 100 mg/kg (that prolonged wakefulness to about 4.5-6 h) showed a similar increase in Cx30 mRNA whereas Cx43 mRNA levels were not changed (Liu et al., 2013). Moreover, transcriptional changes induced by modafinil were accompanied by protein level change and also increased the astrocyte coupling on coronal cortical slices in an activity-dependent manner (Liu et al., 2013). Remarkably, application of gammahydroxybutyrate, a sleep-promoting drug, has an opposite effect on astrocytic coupling on cortical slices (Liu et al., 2013) and the sleep-inducing lipid oleamide blocked the gap-junction mediated communications between rat glial cells (Guan et al., 1997). Altogether, these results suggest that astrocytic coupling is influenced by neuronal activity mainly through the number of Cx30-containing gap junctions. Consequently this suggests that astrocytic coupling increases during wakefulness and decreases during sleep.

Potential role of astrocyte network in NMC and sleep regulation

Molecules up to 1-kDa molecular mass can freely move through gap-junctions following their concentration gradients. Thus ions and a variety of molecules including second messengers and metabolites can be transported throughout the network. At the cortical column scale, the astrocyte network may allow the extension of NMC mechanisms (i) by the Ca2+ waves propagation and the dissipation of the [K⁺], gradient, and (ii) by allowing lactate and glucose diffusion which can be rapidly delivered to different activated synapses and/or serve to fuel astrocytes within the column. This last issue is clearly supported by in vitro experiments in hippocampal slices indicating that the fluorescent analog of glucose (2-NBDG) injected into an astrocyte at the vicinity of pyramidal neurons diffuses throughout the astrocytic network via Cx30- and Cx43-containing gap junctions (Rouach et al., 2008). These authors also showed that 2-NBDG diffuses in a larger network to support neuronal activity increases elicited by electric stimulation of Shaffer's collaterals (Rouach et al., 2008). In addition, gap junction inhibition increased glucose uptake in astrocytes (Lavado et al., 1997). This result confirms the role of gap junctions in energy supply within the astrocytic network. Indeed, such modulation of synaptic transmission via an astrocytic local network that adjusts energy supply to neurons fits well with the "local sleep"

framework (Krueger et al., 2008). According to this hypothesis, sleep-like states could be generated at the cortical column level (Steriade, 2003; Rector et al., 2005) and would be dependent on previous synapses use wakefulness (see Krueger et al., 2008).

CONCLUSIONS

Neuronal phenotypes, astrocytes diversity and brain NMC mechanisms

As reported in this review, several experimental evidences point to the ANLS as a mechanism accounting for the neuro-metabolic coupling for glutamatergic synapses, which represent 80% of total synapses. However, the exact NMC mechanisms supporting energy supply for the other synaptic phenotype (GABAergic, monoaminergic, peptidergic, ...) remains to be determined. For example, an absence of metabolic coupling between the GABA uptake and the stimulation of glycolysis in astrocytes was described (Chatton et al., 2003). According to the role played by cortical GABAergic interneurons in information processing during waking (as reflected by the generation of the EEG gamma rhythm (Kim et al., 2015)) as well as their recently identified role in the sleep-wake cycle (Kilduff et al., 2011; Peyrache et al., 2011), understanding metabolic exchange between cortical GABA neurons and astrocytes remains an important issue.

To better understand the role of astrocytes in NMC changes across the sleep-wake cycle, the precise characterization of their phenotypes in terms of cvtoarchitecture. metabolism, transcriptomic and proteomic profiles as well as the anatomical distribution of these different phenotypes constitute another important issue. For example we showed an upregulation of ANLS-related gene expression after TSD in GFAP-positive astrocytes of the cerebral cortex which do not represent all cortical astrocytes but are more present in the layers I, V and VI (Petit et al., 2013). Whether protoplasmic astrocytes present in layer IV display the same transcriptional response to TSD remains an open question. In this context, determining the phenotype of astrocytes localized in areas involved in sleep regulation such as the basal forebrain, the lateral hypothalamus or different brainstem nuclei could shed new light on sleep regulation mechanisms. Some examples of different local interactions between NMC mechanisms and sleep regulation are given by the critical role played by lactate to sustain orexinergic activity (Parsons and Hirasawa, 2010) and the regulation of the sleeppromoting GABAergic neurons of the VLPO by [Gluc]_o recently reported by Varin et al. (2015).

Using PET, brain topography of aerobic glycolysis was performed in humans at rest (Vaishnavi et al., 2010). This was achieved by combining the analysis of cerebral metabolic rate for oxygen, with that of glucose utilization and blood flow to determine the "glycolytic index" in each voxel. Results indicate that the prefrontal cortex, the lateral and parietal cortices, posterior cingulate and lateral temporal gyrus displayed a significantly higher aerobic glycolysis levels (Vaishnavi et al., 2010).

Remarkably, these regions correspond to brain areas where the expression of genes related to synapse formation and growth, which is high during the childhood, persists in adults (Goyal et al., 2014). Also, this could suggest that glycolysis-based NMC mechanisms are not homogeneously distributed throughout the cortex and could be associated with cortical areas displaying more synaptic plasticity. Interestingly, the EEG power spectrum of the delta band is higher in the frontal regions particularly at sleep onset or during recovery period subsequent to sleep loss (Finelli et al., 2001; Marzano et al., 2013). Hence, the occurrence and density of slow-waves is prominent in regions where the glycolysis rate is higher. Although the kinetics of [Lac], accumulation that represents a readout of the glycolysis, do not fit the SWA build-up and cannot be considered stricto sensu as a direct mediator of sleep homeostasis (Rempe and Wisor, 2015), one can nevertheless assume that lactate can be considered as SWS-promoting factor as proposed by Wisor et al. (2013). The brain [Lac]_o reflects the local integration of the synaptic activity during wakefulness through NMC mechanisms, a view that fits the "local and use-dependent" hypothesis of sleep (Krueger and Tononi, 2011).

NMC regulation and homeostatic plasticity: Beyond the metabolic role of lactate

In this review, several experimental data underlined the role of lactate as an energy substrate delivered to neurons by NMC mechanisms across the sleep–wake cycle. Over the last five years, additional roles for astrocyte-derived lactate have emerged.

A direct action of lactate on neuronal activity was described on primary cultures of mouse cortical neurons (Bozzo et al., 2013). In this study, application of lactate (5 mM) decreased the neuronal spiking frequency measured by intracellular calcium imaging. Interestingly, this effect was independent of energy metabolism stimulation since pyruvate marginally inhibited neuronal Ca²⁺ firing. Moreover, the effect of lactate did not require transport into the neurons and was mediated by a G-proteincoupled receptor called hydroxycarboxylic acid receptor type 1 (HCA1) also known as GPR81 (Bozzo et al., 2013). Meanwhile, an excitatory action of lactate on LC neurons was reported by the Kasparov group (Tang et al., 2014). Using optogenetics to stimulate astrocytes in organotypic slices of LC, they showed that lactate released in response to light stimulation excited LC neurons and triggered NA release by LC terminals. They also showed that direct injections of lactate in LC induced a cortical increase in EEG frequency (Tang et al., 2014). Similar to results obtained by Bozzo and collaborators, the effects of lactate observed by Tang and collaborators were not due to its role as energy substrate and were related to neuronal receptor activation. However, based on the cAMP increase involved in the effects of lactate, the participation of HCA1 receptors which are usually coupled to adenylate cyclase inhibition is unlikely. Although this is highly speculative, the study by Bozzo and collaborators might suggest that astrocyte-derived lactate could participate directly in the decrease in cortical neuronal firing rate leading to sleep onset. Interestingly, results

reported by Tang and collaborators showed that the electrophysiological effect of lactate could play a substantial role in the control of vigilance states. Further investigations to determine if these newly revealed effects of lactate are present in other brain areas involved in the sleep/wake regulation (i.e. basal forebrain, thalamus, brainstem nuclei, ...) should be of interest.

Another unexpected effect of lactate on neurons was reported by Yang and collaborators who showed that plasticity-related genes such as Arc and Zif268 (also known as Egr1) were stimulated in vitro and in vivo by lactate application (Yang et al., 2014). This increase was mediated by NMDA receptor activation and by the downstream Erk1/2 signaling pathway. Contrary to the direct electrophysiological effects of lactate described above, lactate transport through MCTs was required to exert its effects. In addition, stimulation of NMDA receptors was associated with a change in redox state of neurons likely through the redox-sensitive sites present on NR1 sub-unit of the NMDA receptor. Interestingly, these results indicate that, in a parallel manner and at the same synapse, lactate supports synaptic activity as an energy substrate and directly participates in the activity-related plasticity mechanisms by triggering plasticity-related gene transcription. Although these effects occur during waking, we cannot exclude that the cascade of events triggered by lactate could have some delayed effects participating in sleep-related plasticity mechanisms.

From a broader point of view, the induction of genes related to synaptic plasticity by lactate is in agreement with data showing that glycogen-derived lactate was necessary for long-term memory formation (Newman et al., 2011; Suzuki et al., 2011). Therefore, these observations also suggest a possible involvement of lactate released by astrocytes in learning impairments induced by sleep disturbances.

Acknowledgments—This work was supported by a Swiss National Science Foundation grant (3100AO-108336/1) to PJM.

REFERENCES

- Abeles M (1991) Corticonics: neural circuits of the cerebral cortex. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Abi-Saab W, Maggs D, Jones T, Jacob R, Srihari V, Thompson J, Kerr D, Leone P, Krystal J, Spencer D, During M, Sherwin R (2002) Striking differences in glucose and lactate levels between brain extracellular fluid and plasma in conscious human subjects: Effects of hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 22:271–279.
- Aguado F, Espinosa-Parrilla JF, Carmona MA, Soriano E (2002) Neuronal activity regulates correlated network properties of spontaneous calcium transients in astrocytes in situ. J Neurosci 22:9430–9444.
- Agulhon C, Petravicz J, McMullen AB, Sweger EJ, Minton SK, Taves SR, Casper KB, Fiacco TA, McCarthy KD (2008) What is the role of astrocyte calcium in neurophysiology? Neuron 59:932–946.
- Allaman I, Pellerin L, Magistretti PJ (2000) Protein targeting to glycogen mRNA expression is stimulated by noradrenaline in mouse cortical astrocytes. Glia 30:382–391.
- Allaman I, Lengacher S, Magistretti PJ, Pellerin L (2003) A2B receptor activation promotes glycogen synthesis in astrocytes through modulation of gene expression. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 284. C696-704.

- Allaman I, Bélanger M, Magistretti PJ (2011) Astrocyte-neuron metabolic relationships: for better and for worse. Trends Neurosci 34:76–87.
- Allaman I, Bélanger M, Magistretti PJ (2015) Methylglyoxal, the dark side of glycolysis. Front Neurosci:9.
- Almeida A, Moncada S, Bolanos JP (2004) Nitric oxide switches on glycolysis through the AMP protein kinase and 6-phosphofructo-2-kinase pathway. Nat Cell Biol 6:45–51.
- Araque A, Parpura V, Sanzgiri RP, Haydon PG (1999) Tripartite synapses: glia, the unacknowledged partner. Trends Neurosci 22:208–215.
- Araque A, Carmignoto G, Haydon Philip G, Oliet Stéphane HR, Robitaille R, Volterra A (2014) Gliotransmitters travel in time and space. Neuron 81:728–739.
- Arbonés L, Picatoste F, García A (1990) Histamine stimulates glycogen breakdown and increases 45Ca2+ permeability in rat astrocytes in primary culture. Mol Pharmacol 37:921–927.
- Arnardottir ES, Mackiewicz M, Gislason T, Teff KL, Pack AI (2009) Molecular signatures of obstructive sleep apnea in adults: a review and perspective. Sleep 32:447–470.
- Aston-Jones G, Bloom FE (1981) Activity of norepinephrinecontaining locus coeruleus neurons in behaving rats anticipates fluctuations in the sleep-waking cycle. J Neurosci 1:876–886.
- Attwell D, Laughlin SB (2001) An energy budget for signaling in the grey matter of the brain. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 21:1133–1145.
- Azarias G, Perreten H, Lengacher S, Poburko D, Demaurex N, Magistretti PJ, Chatton J-Y (2011) Glutamate transport decreases mitochondrial pH and modulates oxidative metabolism in astrocytes. J Neurosci 31:3550–3559.
- Barbour B, Brew H, Attwell D (1988) Electrogenic glutamate uptake in glial cells is activated by intracellular potassium. Nature 335:433–435.
- Baud MO, Magistretti PJ, Petit J-M (2013) Sustained sleep fragmentation affects brain temperature, food intake and glucose tolerance in mice. J Sleep Res 22:3–12.
- Baud MO, Magistretti PJ, Petit J-M (2014) Sustained sleep fragmentation induces sleep homeostasis in mice. Sleep 38:567–579.
- Bekar LK, He W, Nedergaard M (2008) Locus coeruleus aadrenergic-mediated activation of cortical astrocytes in vivo. Cereb Cortex 18:2789–2795.
- Bélanger M, Allaman I, Magistretti PJ (2011) Brain energy metabolism: focus on astrocyte-neuron metabolic cooperation. Cell Metabo 14:724–738.
- Bélanger M, Yang J, Petit J-M, Laroche T, Magistretti PJ, Allaman I (2012) Role of the glyoxalase system in astrocyte-mediated neuroprotection. J Neurosci 31:18338–18352.
- Bellamy T (2006) Interactions between Purkinje neurones and Bergmann glia. Cerebellum 5:116–126.
- Benington JH, Heller HC (1995) Restoration of brain energy metabolism as the function of sleep. Prog Neurobiol 45:347–360.
- Bergersen LH, Magistretti PJ, Pellerin L (2005) Selective postsynaptic co-localization of MCT2 with AMPA receptor GluR2/3 subunits at excitatory synapses exhibiting AMPA receptor trafficking. Cereb Cortex 15:361–370.
- Bergersen LH (2007) Is lactate food for neurons? Comparison of monocarboxylate transporter subtypes in brain and muscle. Neuroscience 145:11–19.
- Berridge CW, Waterhouse BD (2003) The locus coeruleusnoradrenergic system: modulation of behavioral state and statedependent cognitive processes. Brain Res Rev 42:33–84.
- Berridge CW (2008) Noradrenergic modulation of arousal. Brain Res Rev 58:1–17.
- Bittar PG, Charnay Y, Pellerin L, Bouras C, Magistretti PJ (1996) Selective distribution of lactate dehydrogenase isoenzymes in neurons and astrocytes of human brain. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 16:1079–1089.
- Bittner CX, Valdebenito R, Ruminot I, Loaiza A, Larenas V, Sotelo-Hitschfeld T, Moldenhauer H, San Martin A, Gutiérrez R, Zambrano M, Barros LF (2011) Fast and reversible stimulation

of astrocytic glycolysis by K+ and a delayed and persistent effect of glutamate. J Neurosci 31:4709-4713.

- Bolaños JP, Almeida A, Moncada S (2010) Glycolysis: a bioenergetic or a survival pathway? Trends Biochem Sci 35:145–149.
- Borbély AA, Achermann P (1999) Sleep homeostasis and models of sleep regulation. J Biol Rhythms 14:557–568.
- Borbély AA, Baumann F, Brandeis D, Strauch I, Lehmann D (1981) Sleep deprivation: effect on sleep stages and EEG power density in man. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol 51: 483–495.
- Borbély AA, Tobler I, Hanagasioglu M (1984) Effect of sleep deprivation on sleep and EEG power spectra in the rat. Behav Brain Res 14:171–182.
- Bouret S, Sara SJ (2005) Network reset: a simplified overarching theory of locus coeruleus noradrenaline function. Trends Neurosci 28:574–582.
- Bozzo L, Puyal J, Chatton J-Y (2013) Lactate modulates the activity of primary cortical neurons through a receptor-mediated pathway. PLoS One 8:e71721.
- Brix B, Mesters JR, Pellerin L, Jöhren O (2012) Endothelial cellderived nitric oxide enhances aerobic glycolysis in astrocytes via HIF-1a-mediated target gene activation. J Neurosci 32: 9727–9735.
- Brown AM, Sickmann HM, Fosgerau K, Lund TM, Schousboe A, Waagepetersen HS, Ransom BR (2005) Astrocyte glycogen metabolism is required for neural activity during aglycemia or intense stimulation in mouse white matter. J Neurosci Res 79:74–80.
- Buchsbaum MS, Gillin JC, Wu J, Hazlett E, Sicotte N, Dupont RM, Bunney Jr WE (1989) Regional cerebral glucose metabolic rate in human sleep assessed by positron emission tomography. Life Sci 45:1349–1356.
- Campbell SS, Tobler I (1984) Animal sleep: a review of sleep duration across phylogeny. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 8:269–300.
- Cardinaux J, Magistretti P (1996) Vasoactive intestinal peptide, pituitary adenylate cyclase-activating peptide, and noradrenaline induce the transcription factors CCAAT/enhancer binding protein (C/EBP)-beta and C/EBP delta in mouse cortical astrocytes: involvement in cAMP-regulated glycogen metabolism. J Neurosci 16:919–929.
- Carmignoto G, Gómez-Gonzalo M (2010) The contribution of astrocyte signalling to neurovascular coupling. Brain Res Rev 63:138–148.
- Cataldo AM, Broadwell RD (1986) Cytochemical identification of cerebral glycogen and glucose-6-phosphatase activity under normal and experimental conditions. II. Choroid plexus and ependymal epithelia, endothelia and pericytes. J Neurocytol 15:511–524.
- Chatton J-Y, Pellerin L, Magistretti PJ (2003) GABA uptake into astrocytes is not associated with significant metabolic cost: Implications for brain imaging of inhibitory transmission. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:12456–12461.
- Chaudhry FA, Lehre KP, Lookeren Campagne Mv, Ottersen OP, Danbolt NC, Storm-Mathisen J (1995) Glutamate transporters in glial plasma membranes: highly differentiated localizations revealed by quantitative ultrastructural immunocytochemistry. Neuron 15:711–720.
- Choi H, Gordon G, Zhou N, Tai C, Rungta R, Martinez J, Milner T, Ryu J, McLarnon J, Tresguerres M, Levin L, Buck J, MacVicar B (2012) Metabolic communication between astrocytes and neurons via bicarbonate-responsive soluble adenylyl cyclase. Neuron 75:1094–1104.
- Chuquet J, Quilichini P, Nimchinsky EA, Buzsàki G (2010) Predominant enhancement of glucose uptake in astrocytes versus neurons during activation of the somatosensory cortex. J Neurosci 30:15298–15303.
- Cirelli C, Tononi G (2000) Gene expression in the brain across the sleep-waking cycle. Brain Res 885:303–321.
- Cirelli C, Tononi G (2004) Locus ceruleus control of state-dependent gene expression. J Neurosci 24:5410–5419.
- Cirelli C, Tononi G (2008) Is sleep essential? PLoS Biol 6:e216.

- Cirelli C, Faraguna U, Tononi G (2006) Changes in brain gene expression after long-term sleep deprivation. J Neurochem 98:1632–1645.
- Cirelli C (2006) Cellular consequences of sleep deprivation in the brain. Sleep Med Rev 10:307.
- Danbolt NC (2001) Glutamate uptake. Prog Neurobiol 65:1-105.
- Darbin O, Carre E, Naritoku D, Risso J-J, Lonjon M, Patrylo PR (2006) Glucose metabolites in the striatum of freely behaving rats following infusion of elevated potassium. Brain Res 1116:127–131.
- Dash MB, Douglas CL, Vyazovskiy VV, Cirelli C, Tononi G (2009) Long-term homeostasis of extracellular glutamate in the rat cerebral cortex across sleep and waking states. J Neurosci 29:620–629.
- Dash MB, Bellesi M, Tononi G, Cirelli C (2013) Sleep/wake dependent changes in cortical glucose concentrations. J Neurochem 124:79–89.
- Derouiche A, Haseleu J, Korf H-W (2015) Fine astrocyte processes contain very small mitochondria: glial oxidative capability may fuel transmitter metabolism. Neurochem Res:1–12.
- Dibner C, Schibler U, Albrecht U (2010) The mammalian circadian timing system: organization and coordination of central and peripheral clocks. Ann Rev Physiol 72:517–549.
- Dienel GA (2013) Astrocytic energetics during excitatory neurotransmission: What are contributions of glutamate oxidation and glycolysis? Neurochem Interl 63:244–258.
- DiNuzzo M, Mangia S, Maraviglia B, Giove F (2010) Changes in glucose uptake rather than lactate shuttle take center stage in subserving neuroenergetics: evidence from mathematical modeling. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 30:586–602.
- Doherty MJ, Young PR, Cohen PTW (1996) Amino acid sequence of a novel protein phosphatase 1 binding protein (R5) which is related to the liver- and muscle-specific glycogen binding subunits of protein phosphatase 1. FEBS Lett 399:339–343.
- Dringen R, Gebhardt R, Hamprecht B (1993) Glycogen in astrocytes: possible function as lactate supply for neighboring cells. Brain Res 623:208–214.
- Duelli R, Kuschinsky W (2001) Brain glucose transporters: relationship to local energy demand. Physiology 16:71–76.
- Dworak M, McCarley RW, Kim T, Kalinchuk AV, Basheer R (2010) Sleep and brain energy levels: ATP changes during sleep. J Neurosci 30:9007–9016.
- Enkvist MOK, McCarthy KD (1994) Astroglial gap junction communication is increased by treatment with either glutamate or high K+ concentration. J Neurochem 62:489–495.
- Everson CA, Smith CB, Sokoloff L (1994) Effects of prolonged sleep deprivation on local rates of cerebral energy metabolism in freely moving rats. J Neurosci 14:6769–6778.
- Fellows L, Boutelle M, Fillenz M (1993) Physiological stimulation increases nonoxidative glucose metabolism in the brain of the freely moving rat. J Neurochem 60:1258–1263.
- Fernandez-Fernandez S, Almeida A, Bolaños JP (2012) Antioxidant and bioenergetic coupling between neurons and astrocytes. Biochem J 443:3–11.
- Ferreira JM, Burnett AL, Rameau GA (2011) Activity-dependent regulation of surface glucose transporter-3. J Neurosci 31:1991–1999.
- Finelli LA, Borbély AA, Achermann P (2001) Functional topography of the human non-REM sleep electroencephalogram. Eur J Neurosci 13:2282–2290.
- Foote SL, Aston-Jones G, Bloom FE (1980) Impulse activity of locus coeruleus neurons in awake rats and monkeys is a function of sensory stimulation and arousal. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 77:3033–3037.
- Fox PT, Raichle ME (1986) Focal physiological uncoupling of cerebral blood flow and oxidative metabolism during somatosensory stimulation in human subjects. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 83:1140–1144.
- Fox PT, Raichle ME, Mintun MA, Dence C (1988) Nonoxidative glucose consumption during focal physiologic neural activity. Science 241:462–464.

- Franken P, Gip P, Hagiwara G, Ruby NF, Heller HC (2003) Changes in brain glycogen after sleep deprivation vary with genotype. Am J Physiol Reg Integr Comp Physiol 285. R413-R419.
- Furuta A, Rothstein JD, Martin LJ (1997) Glutamate transporter protein subtypes are expressed differentially during rat CNS development. J Neurosci 17:8363–8375.
- Gabbott PL, Bacon SJ (1996) Local circuit neurons in the medial prefrontal cortex (areas 24a, b, c, 25 and 32) in the monkey: II. Quantitative areal and laminar distributions. J Comp Neurol 364:609–636.
- Gabbott PL, Dickie BG, Vaid RR, Headlam AJ, Bacon SJ (1997) Local-circuit neurones in the medial prefrontal cortex (areas 25, 32 and 24b) in the rat: morphology and quantitative distribution. J Comp Neurol 377:465–499.
- Genda EN, Jackson JG, Sheldon AL, Locke SF, Greco TM, O'Donnell JC, Spruce LA, Xiao R, Guo W, Putt M, Seeholzer S, Ischiropoulos H, Robinson MB (2011) Co-compartmentalization of the astroglial glutamate transporter, GLT-1, with glycolytic enzymes and mitochondria. J Neurosci 31:18275–18288.
- Giaume C, Marin P, Cordier J, Glowinski J, Premont J (1991) Adrenergic regulation of intercellular communications between cultured striatal astrocytes from the mouse. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 88:5577–5581.
- Giaume C (2010) Astroglial wiring is adding complexity to neuroglial networking. Front Neuroenerg 2:5.
- Gip P, Hagiwara G, Ruby NF, Heller HC (2002) Sleep deprivation decreases glycogen in the cerebellum but not in the cortex of young rats. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 283. R54-59.
- Goyal M, Hawrylycz M, Miller J, Snyder A, Raichle M (2014) Aerobic glycolysis in the human brain is associated with development and neotenous gene expression. Cell Metabol 19:49–57.
- Guan X, Cravatt BF, Ehring GR, Hall JE, Boger DL, Lerner RA, Gilula NB (1997) The sleep-inducing lipid oleamide deconvolutes gap junction communication and calcium wave transmission in glial cells. J Cell Biol 139:1785–1792.
- Halassa MM, Florian C, Fellin T, Munoz JR, Lee S-Y, Abel T, Haydon PG, Frank MG (2009) Astrocytic modulation of sleep homeostasis and cognitive consequences of sleep loss. Neuron 61:213–219.
- Halestrap AP (2012) The monocarboxylate transporter family structure and functional characterization. IUBMB Life 64:1–9.
- Halim ND, McFate T, Mohyeldin A, Okagaki P, Korotchkina LG, Patel MS, Jeoung NH, Harris RA, Schell MJ, Verma A (2010) Phosphorylation status of pyruvate dehydrogenase distinguishes metabolic phenotypes of cultured rat brain astrocytes and neurons. Glia 58:1168–1176.
- Hamilton N, Vayro S, Kirchhoff F, Verkhratsky A, Robbins J, Gorecki DC, Butt AM (2008) Mechanisms of ATP- and glutamatemediated calcium signaling in white matter astrocytes. Glia 56:734–749.
- Harris J, Jolivet R, Attwell D (2012) Synaptic energy use and supply. Neuron 75:762–777.
- Hedera P, Wu D, Lewin J, Miller D, Lerner A, Friedland R (1995) Temporal patterns of uncoupling between oxidative metabolism and regional cerebral blood flow demonstrated by functional magnetic resonance imaging. Invest Radiol 30:625–633.
- Heinrich A, Andó RD, Túri G, Rózsa B, Sperlágh B (2012) K+ depolarization evokes ATP, adenosine and glutamate release from glia in rat hippocampus: a microelectrode biosensor study. Brit J Pharmacol 167:1003–1020.
- Heiss WD, Pawlik G, Herholz K, Wagner R, Wienhard K (1985) Regional cerebral glucose metabolism in man during wakefulness, sleep, and dreaming. Brain Res 327:362–366.
- Herard A-S, Dubois A, Escartin C, Tanaka K, Delzescaux T, Hantraye P, Bonvento G (2005) Decreased metabolic response to visual stimulation in the superior colliculus of mice lacking the glial glutamate transporter GLT-1. Eur J Neurosci 22:1807–1811.
- Herrero-Mendez A, Almeida A, Fernandez E, Maestre C, Moncada S, Bolaños JP (2009) The bioenergetic and antioxidant status of neurons is controlled by continuous degradation of a key glycolytic enzyme by APC/C-Cdh1. Nat Cell Biol 11:747–752.

- Hösli E, Hösli L (1993) Receptors for neurotransmitters on astrocytes in the mammalian central nervous system. Prog Neurobiol 40:477–506.
- Houades V, Koulakoff A, Ezan P, Seif I, Giaume C (2008) Gap junction-mediated astrocytic networks in the mouse barrel cortex. J Neuroscience 28:5207–5217.
- Howarth C (2014) The contribution of astrocytes to the regulation of cerebral blood flow. Front Neurosci 8.
- Hu Y, Wilson GS (1997) Rapid changes in local extracellular rat brain glucose observed with an in vivo glucose sensor. J Neurochem 68:1745.
- Huber R, Felice Ghilardi M, Massimini M, Tononi G (2004) Local sleep and learning. Nature 430:78–81.
- Hutchins DA, Rogers KJ (1970) Physiological and drug-induced changes in the glycogen content of mouse brain. Br J Pharmacol 39:9–25.
- Hydén H, Lange PW (1965) Rhythmic enzyme changes in neurons and glia during sleep. Science 149:654–656.
- Iglesias R, Dahl G, Qiu F, Spray DC, Scemes E (2009) Pannexin 1: the molecular substrate of astrocyte "hemichannels". J Neurosci 29:7092–7097.
- Inostroza M, Born J (2013) Sleep for preserving and transforming episodic memory. Ann Rev Neurosci 36:79–102.
- Jakubcakova V, Curzi M, Flachskamm C, Hambsch B, Landgraf R, Kimura M (2013) The glycolytic metabolite methylglyoxal induces changes in vigilance by generating low-amplitude non-REM sleep. J Psychopharmacol 27:1070–1075.
- Jay TM, Jouvet M, des Rosiers MH (1985) Local cerebral glucose utilization in the free moving mouse: a comparison during two stages of the activity-rest cycle. Brain Res 342:297–306.
- John J, Ramanathan L, Siegel JM (2008) Rapid changes in glutamate levels in the posterior hypothalamus across sleep-wake states in freely behaving rats. Am J Physiol Reg Integr Comp Physiol 295. R2041-R2049.
- Jones BE, Yang TZ (1985) The efferent projections from the reticular formation and the locus coeruleus studied by anterograde and retrograde axonal transport in the rat. J Comp Neurol 242:56–92.
- Jones S, Pfister-Genskow M, Benca RM, Cirelli C (2008) Molecular correlates of sleep and wakefulness in the brain of the whitecrowned sparrow. J Neurochem 105:46–62.
- Jones BE (2008) Modulation of cortical activation and behavioral arousal by cholinergic and orexinergic systems. Ann New York Acad Sci 1129:26–34.
- Jouvet M (1969) Biogenic amines and the states of sleep. Science 163:32–41.
- Kalinchuk AV, Urrila A-S, Alanko L, Heiskanen S, Wigren H-K, Suomela M, Stenberg D, Porkka-Heiskanen T (2003) Local energy depletion in the basal forebrain increases sleep. Eur J Neurosci 17:863.
- Kanai Y, Clémençon B, Simonin A, Leuenberger M, Lochner M, Weisstanner M, Hediger MA (2013) The SLC1 high-affinity glutamate and neutral amino acid transporter family. Mol Aspects Med 34:108–120.
- Kanemitsu MY, Loo LWM, Simon S, Lau AF, Eckhart W (1997) Tyrosine phosphorylation of connexin 43 by v-src is mediated by SH2 and SH3 domain interactions. J Biol Chem 272:22824–22831.
- Karagiannis A, Sylantyev S, Hadjihambi A, Hosford P, Kasparov S, Gourine A (2015) Hemichannel-mediated release of lactate. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. First published on October 23.
- Karnovsky ML, Reich P, Anchors JM, Burrows BL (1983) Changes in brain glycogen during slow-wave sleep in the rat. J Neurochem 41:1498–1501.
- Kennedy C, Gillin JC, Mendelson W, Suda S, Miyaoka M, Ito M, Nakamura RK, Storch FI, Pettigrew K, Mishkin M, Sokoloff L (1981) Local cerebral glucose utilization in slow-wave sleep. Trans Am Neurol Assoc 106:25–28.
- Kilduff TS, Cauli B, Gerashchenko D (2011) Activation of cortical interneurons during sleep: an anatomical link to homeostatic sleep regulation? Trends Neurosci 34:10–19.

- Kim T, Thankachan S, McKenna JT, McNally JM, Yang C, Choi JH, Chen L, Kocsis B, Deisseroth K, Strecker RE, Basheer R, Brown RE, McCarley RW (2015) Cortically projecting basal forebrain parvalbumin neurons regulate cortical gamma band oscillations. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 112:3535–3540.
- Kinney GA, Spain WJ (2002) Synaptically evoked GABA transporter currents in neocortical glia. J Neurophysiol 88:2899–2908.
- Ko CH, Takahashi JS (2006) Molecular components of the mammalian circadian clock. Hum Mol Gen 15. R271-R277.
- Kofuji P, Newman EA (2004) Potassium buffering in the central nervous system. Neuroscience 129:1043–1054.
- Koulakoff A, Ezan P, Giaume C (2008) Neurons control the expression of connexin 30 and connexin 43 in mouse cortical astrocytes. Glia 56:1299–1311.
- Kovar JL, Volcheck W, Sevick-Muraca E, Simpson MA, Olive DM (2009) Characterization and performance of a near-infrared 2-deoxyglucose optical imaging agent for mouse cancer models. Anal Biochem 384:254–262.
- Krueger JM, Tononi G (2011) Local use-dependent sleep; synthesis of the new paradigm. Cur Topics Med Chem 11:2490–2492.
- Krueger JM, Rector DM, Roy S, Van Dongen HPA, Belenky G, Panksepp J (2008) Sleep as a fundamental property of neuronal assemblies. Nat Rev Neurosci 9:910–919.
- LaManna JC, Harik SI, Light AI, Rosenthal M (1981) Norepinephrine depletion alters cerebral oxidative metabolism in the 'active' state. Brain Res 204:87–101.
- Laughton JD, Bittar P, Charnay Y, Pellerin L, Kovari E, Magistretti PJ, Bouras C (2007) Metabolic compartmentalization in the human cortex and hippocampus: evidence for a cell- and region-specific localization of lactate dehydrogenase 5 and pyruvate dehydrogenase. BMC Neurosci 8. 35-35.
- Lavado E, Sánchez-Abarca LI, Tabernero A, Bolaños JP, Medina JM (1997) Oleic acid inhibits gap junction permeability and increases glucose uptake in cultured rat astrocytes. J Neurochem 69:721–728.
- Li B, Freeman RD (2015) Neurometabolic coupling between neural activity, glucose, and lactate in activated visual cortex. J Neurochem. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/inc.13143</u>.
- Li WEI, Ochalski PAY, Hertzberg EL, Nagy JI (1998) Immunorecognition, ultrastructure and phosphorylation status of astrocytic gap junctions and connexin43 in rat brain after cerebral focal ischaemia. Eur J Neurosci 10:2444–2463.
- Lin J-S, Sergeeva OA, Haas HL (2011) Histamine H3 receptors and sleep-wake regulation. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 336:17–23.
- Liu X, Petit J-M, Ezan P, Gyger J, Magistretti P, Giaume C (2013) The psychostimulant modafinil enhances gap junctional communication in cortical astrocytes. Neuropharmacol 75:533–538.
- Lopez-Rodriguez F, Medina-Ceja L, Wilson CL, Jhung D, Morales-Villagran A (2007) Changes in extracellular glutamate levels in rat orbitofrontal cortex during sleep and wakefulness. Arch Med Res 38:52–55.
- Lovatt D, Sonnewald U, Waagepetersen HS, Schousboe A, He W, Lin JH-C, Han X, Takano T, Wang S, Sim FJ, Goldman SA, Nedergaard M (2007) The transcriptome and metabolic gene signature of protoplasmic astrocytes in the adult murine cortex. J Neurosci 27:12255–12266.
- Lovatt D, Xu Q, Liu W, Takano T, Smith NA, Schnermann J, Tieu K, Nedergaard M (2012) Neuronal adenosine release, and not astrocytic ATP release, mediates feedback inhibition of excitatory activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109:6265–6270.
- Lundgaard I, Li B, Xie L, Kang H, Sanggaard S, Haswell JDR, Sun W, Goldman S, Blekot S, Nielsen M, Takano T, Deane R, Nedergaard M (2015) Direct neuronal glucose uptake heralds activity-dependent increases in cerebral metabolism. Nat Commun 6. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ncomms7807.
- Luppi P-H, Clément O, Sapin E, Gervasoni D, Peyron C, Léger L, Salvert D, Fort P (2011) The neuronal network responsible for paradoxical sleep and its dysfunctions causing narcolepsy and rapid eye movement (REM) behavior disorder. Sleep Med Rev 15:153–163.

Magistretti PJ, Allaman I (2015) A cellular perspective on brain energy metabolism and functional Imaging. Neuron 86:883–901.

- Magistretti PJ, Morrison JH (1988) Noradrenaline- and vasoactive intestinal peptide-containing neuronal systems in neocortex: functional convergence with contrasting morphology. Neuroscience 24:367–378.
- Magistretti PJ, Morrison JH, Shoemaker WJ, Sapin V, Bloom FE (1981) Vasoactive intestinal polypeptide induces glycogenolysis in mouse cortical slices: a possible regulatory mechanism for the local control of energy metabolism. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 78:6535–6539.
- Magistretti PJ, Sorg O, Yu N, Martin JL, Pellerin L (1993) Neurotransmitters regulate energy metabolism in astrocytes: implications for the metabolic trafficking between neural cells. Dev Neurosci 15:306–312.
- Maher F, Simpson IA (1994) Modulation of expression of glucose transporters GLUT3 and GLUT1 by potassium and N-methyl-p-aspartate in cultured cerebellar granule neurons. Mol Cell Neurosci 5:369–375.
- Maher F, Davies-Hill TM, Lysko PG, Henneberry RC, Simpson IA (1991) Expression of two glucose transporters, GLUT1 and GLUT3, in cultured cerebellar neurons: evidence for neuronspecific expression of GLUT3. Mol Cell Neurosci 2:351–360.
- Marzano C, Moroni F, Gorgoni M, Nobili L, Ferrara M, De Gennaro L (2013) How we fall asleep: regional and temporal differences in electroencephalographic synchronization at sleep onset. Sleep Med 14:1112–1122.
- Matthias K, Kirchhoff F, Seifert G, Hüttmann K, Matyash M, Kettenmann H, Steinhäuser C (2003) Segregated expression of AMPA-type glutamate receptors and glutamate transporters defines distinct astrocyte populations in the mouse hippocampus. J Neurosci 23:1750–1758.
- McKhann GM, D'Ambrosio R, Janigro D (1997) Heterogeneity of astrocyte resting membrane potentials and intercellular coupling revealed by whole-cell and gramicidin-perforated patch recordings from cultured neocortical and hippocampal slice astrocytes. J Neurosci 17:6850–6863.
- McNamara P, Johnson P, McLaren D, Harris E, Beauharnais C, Auerbach S, Angela Clow, Patrick M (2010) REM and NREM sleep mentation. In: Int Rev Neurobiol, vol. 92. Academic Press. p. 69–86.
- McNay EC, Fries TM, Gold PE (2000) Decreases in rat extracellular hippocampal glucose concentration associated with cognitive demand during a spatial task. Proc Nat Acad Sci USA 97:2881–2885.
- Minelli A, Barbaresi P, Reimer RJ, Edwards RH, Conti F (2001) The glial glutamate transporter GLT-1 is localized both in the vicinity of and at distance from axon terminals in the rat cerebral cortex. Neuroscience 108:51–59.
- Morgenthaler FD, Lanz BR, Petit J-M, Frenkel H, Magistretti PJ, Gruetter R (2009) Alteration of brain glycogen turnover in the conscious rat after 5 h of prolonged wakefulness. Neurochem Int 55:45–51.
- Morin CM, LeBlanc M, Daley M, Gregoire JP, Mérette C (2006) Epidemiology of insomnia: prevalence, self-help treatments, consultations, and determinants of help-seeking behaviors. Sleep Med 7:123–130.
- Mottin S, Laporte P, Jouvet M, Cespuglio R (1997) Determination of NADH in the rat brain during sleep-wake states with an optic fibre sensor and time-resolved fluorescence procedures. Neuroscience 79:683–693.
- Müller T, Kettenmann H (1995) Physiology of Bergmann glial cells. Int Rev Neurobiol 38:341–359.
- Naylor E, Aillon D, Barrett B, Wilson G, Johnson D, Harmon H, Gabbert S, Petillo P (2012) Lactate as a biomarker for sleep. Sleep 35:1209–1222.
- Neary J, Kang Y, Shi Y (2004) Signaling from nucleotide receptors to protein kinase cascades in astrocytes. Neurochem Res 29:2037–2042.
- Nehlig A, Wittendorp-Rechenmann E, Lam CD (2004) Selective uptake of ¹⁴C-2-deoxyglucose by neurons and astrocytes:

high-resolution microautoradiographic imaging by cellular ¹⁴C-trajectography combined with immunohistochemistry. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 24:1004–1014.

- Netchiporouk LI, Shram NF, Jaffrezic-Renault N, Martelet C, Cespuglio R (1996) In vivo brain glucose measurements: differential normal pulse voltammetry with enzyme-modified carbon fiber microelectrodes. Anal Chem 68:4358–4364.
- Netchiporouk L, Shram N, Salvert D, Cespuglio R (2001) Brain extracellular glucose assessed by voltammetry throughout the rat sleep–wake cycle. Eur J Neurosci 13:1429.
- Nett WJ, Oloff SH, McCarthy KD (2002) Hippocampal astrocytes in situ exhibit calcium oscillations that occurs independent of neuronal activity. J Neurophysiol 87:528–537.
- Newman LA, Korol DL, Gold PE (2011) Lactate produced by glycogenolysis in astrocytes regulates memory processing. PLoS One 6:e28427.
- Nofzinger EA, Buysse DJ, Miewald JM, Meltzer CC, Price JC, Sembrat RC, Ombao H, Reynolds CF, Monk TH, Hall M, Kupfer DJ, Moore RY (2002) Human regional cerebral glucose metabolism during non†rapid eye movement sleep in relation to waking. Brain 125:1105–1115.
- Nofzinger EA, Buysse DJ, Germain A, Price JC, Miewald JM, Kupfer DJ (2004) Functional neuroimaging evidence for hyperarousal in insomnia. Am J Psychiatr 161:2126–2128.
- O'Brien J, Kla K, Hopkins I, Malecki E, McKenna M (2007) Kinetic parameters and lactate dehydrogenase isozyme activities support possible lactate utilization by neurons. Neurochem Res 32:597.
- O'Byrne JN, Berman Rosa M, Gouin JP, Dang-Vu TT (2014) Neuroimaging findings in primary insomnia. Pathol Biol 62:262–269.
- Ohayon MM, Roth T (2001) What are the contributing factors for insomnia in the general population? J Psychosom Res 51:745–755.
- Palagini L, Baglioni C, Ciapparelli A, Gemignani A, Riemann D (2013) REM sleep dysregulation in depression: state of the art. Sleep Med Rev 17:377–390.
- Panda S, Hogenesch JB, Kay SA (2002) Circadian rhythms from flies to human. Nature 417:329–335.
- Parsons MP, Hirasawa M (2010) ATP-sensitive potassium channelmediated lactate effect on orexin neurons: implications for brain energetics during arousal. J Neurosci 30:8061–8070.
- Pascual O, Casper KB, Kubera C, Zhang J, Revilla-Sanchez R, Sul J-Y, Takano H, Moss SJ, McCarthy K, Haydon PG (2005) Astrocytic purinergic signaling coordinates synaptic networks. Science 310:113–116.
- Paukert M, Agarwal A, Cha J, Doze Van A, Kang Jin U, Bergles Dwight E (2015) Norepinephrine controls astroglial responsiveness to local circuit activity. Neuron 82:1263–1270.
- Pellerin L, Magistretti PJ (1994) Glutamate uptake into astrocytes stimulates aerobic glycolysis: a mechanism coupling neuronal activity to glucose utilization. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91:10625–10629.
- Pellerin L, Magistretti PJ (1997) glutamate uptake stimulates Na+, K +-ATPase activity in astrocytes via activation of a distinct subunit highly sensitive to ouabain. J Neurochem 69:2132–2137.
- Pellerin L, Magistretti PJ (2012) Sweet sixteen for ANLS. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 32:1152–1166.
- Peña JL, Pérez-Perera L, Bouvier M, Velluti RA (1999) Sleep and wakefulness modulation of the neuronal firing in the auditory cortex of the guinea pig. Brain Res 816:463–470.
- Perea G, Navarrete M, Araque A (2009) Tripartite synapses: astrocytes process and control synaptic information. Trends Neurosci 32:421–431.
- Petit J-M, Tobler I, Allaman I, Borbély AA, Magistretti PJ (2002) Sleep deprivation modulates brain mRNAs encoding genes of glycogen metabolism. Eur J Neurosci 16:1163–1167.
- Petit J-M, Tobler I, Kopp C, Morgenthaler F, Borbély A, Magistretti PJ (2010) Metabolic response of the cerebral cortex following gentle sleep deprivation and modafinil administration. Sleep 33:901–908.

- Petit J-M, Gyger J, Burlet-Godinot S, Fiumelli H, Martin J-L, Magistretti PJ (2013) Genes involved in the astrocyte-neuron lactate shuttle (ANLS) are specifically regulated in cortical astrocytes following sleep deprivation in mice. Sleep 36:1445–1458.
- Petit J-M, Burlet-Godinot S, Magistretti PJ, Allaman I (2015) Glycogen metabolism and the homeostatic regulation of sleep. Meta Brain Dis 30:263–279.
- Peyrache A, Battaglia FP, Destexhe A (2011) Inhibition recruitment in prefrontal cortex during sleep spindles and gating of hippocampal inputs. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108:17207–17212.
- Phelps CH (1972) Barbiturate-induced glycogen accumulation in brain. An electron microscopic study. Brain Res 39:225–234.
- Phelps M, Huang S, Hoffman E, Selin C, Sokoloff L, Kuhl D (1979) Tomographic measurement of local cerebral glucose metabolic rate in humans with (F-18)2-fluoro-2-deoxy-D-glucose: Validation of method. Ann Neurol 6:371–388.
- Pierre K, Pellerin L (2005) Monocarboxylate transporters in the central nervous system: distribution, regulation and function. J Neurochem 94:1.
- Porkka-Heiskanen T, Kalinchuk AV (2011) Adenosine, energy metabolism and sleep homeostasis. Sleep Med Rev 15:123–135.
- Porter JT, McCarthy KD (1995) GFAP-positive hippocampal astrocytes in situ respond to glutamatergic neuroligands with increases in [Ca²⁺]i. Glia 13:101–112.
- Poskanzer KE, Yuste R (2015) Astrocytic regulation of cortical UP states. PNAS 108:18453–18458.
- Prichard J, Rothman D, Novotny E, Petroff O, Kuwabara T, Avison M, Howseman A, Hanstock C, Shulman R (1991) Lactate rise detected by ¹H NMR in human visual cortex during physiologic stimulation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 88:5829–5831.
- Printen JA, Brady MJ, Saltiel AR (1997) PTG, a protein phosphatase 1-binding protein with a role in glycogen metabolism. Science 275:1475–1478.
- Ramm P, Frost BJ (1986) Cerebral and local cerebral metabolism in the cat during slow wave and REM sleep. Brain Res 365:112–124.
- Rasch B, Born J (2013) About sleep's role in memory. Physiol Rev 93:681–766.
- Rattenborg NC, Lima SL, Lesku JA (2012) Sleep locally, act globally. Neuroscientist 18:533–546.
- Rechtschaffen A, Bergmann BM (1995) Sleep deprivation in the rat by the disk-over-water method. Behav Brain Res 69:55–63.
- Rector DM, Topchiy IA, Carter KM, Rojas MJ (2005) Local functional state differences between rat cortical columns. Brain Res 1047:45–55.
- Reick M, Garcia JA, Dudley C, McKnight SL (2001) NPAS2: an analog of clock operative in the mammalian forebrain. Science 293:506–509.
- Rempe MJ, Wisor JP (2015) Cerebral lactate dynamics across sleep/ wake cycles. Front Comput Neurosci 8. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/</u> fncom.2014.00174.
- Rex A, Bert B, Fink H, Voigt JP (2009) Stimulus-dependent changes of extracellular glucose in the rat hippocampus determined by in vivo microdialysis. Physiol Behav 98:467–473.
- Rosafio K, Pellerin L (2014) Oxygen tension controls the expression of the monocarboxylate transporter MCT4 in cultured mouse cortical astrocytes via a hypoxia-inducible factor-1α-mediated transcriptional regulation. Glia 62:477–490.
- Rouach N, Koulakoff A, Abudara V, Willecke K, Giaume C (2008) Astroglial metabolic networks sustain hippocampal synaptic transmission. Science 322:1551–1555.
- Roux L, Benchenane K, Rothstein JD, Bonvento G, Giaume C (2011) Plasticity of astroglial networks in olfactory glomeruli. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108:18442–18446.
- Ruminot In, Gutiérrez R, Peña-Münzenmayer G, Añazco C, Sotelo-Hitschfeld T, Lerchundi R, Niemeyer MI, Shull GE, Barros LF (2011) NBCe1 mediates the acute stimulation of astrocytic glycolysis by extracellular K+. J Neurosci 31:14264–14271.
- Rutherford EC, Pomerleau F, Huettl P, Strömberg I, Gerhardt GA (2007) Chronic second-by-second measures of I-glutamate in the

central nervous system of freely moving rats. J Neurochem 102:712-722.

- Rutter J, Reick M, Wu LC, McKnight SL (2001) Regulation of clock and NPAS2 DNA binding by the redox state of NAD cofactors. Science 293:510–514.
- Sada N, Lee S, Katsu T, Otsuki T, Inoue T (2015) Targeting LDH enzymes with a stiripentol analog to treat epilepsy. Science 347:1362–1367.
- Sakata T, Yoshimatsu H, Kurokawa M (1997) Hypothalamic neuronal histamine: implications of its homeostatic control of energy metabolism. Nutrition 13:403–411.
- Salas-Burgos A, Iserovich P, Zuniga F, Vera JC, Fischbarg J (2004) Predicting the three-dimensional structure of the human facilitative glucose transporter Glut1 by a novel evolutionary homology strategy: insights on the molecular mechanism of substrate migration, and binding sites for glucose and inhibitory molecules. Biophys J 87:2990–2999.
- Santello M, Calì C, Bezzi P (2012) Gliotransmission and the tripartite synapse. In: Kreutz MR, Sala C, editors. Synaptic Plasticity, vol. 970. Vienna: Springer. p. 307–331.
- Sappey-Marinier D, Calabrese G, Fein G, Hugg J, Biggins C, Weiner M (1992) Effect of photic stimulation on human visual cortex lactate and phosphates using ¹H and ³¹P magnetic resonance spectroscopy. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 12:584–592.
- Scharf MT, Naidoo N, Zimmerman JE, Pack AI (2008) The energy hypothesis of sleep revisited. Prog Neurobiol 86:264–280.
- Schmidt MH (2014) The energy allocation function of sleep: A unifying theory of sleep, torpor, and continuous wakefulness. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 47:122–153.
- Sheng Z-H (2014) Mitochondrial trafficking and anchoring in neurons: New insight and implications. J Cell Biol 204: 1087–1098.
- Shram NF, Netchiporouk LI, Martelet C, Jaffrezic-Renault N, Cespuglio R (1997) Brain glucose: voltammetric determination in normal and hyperglycaemic rats using a glucose microsensor. NeuroReport 8:1109–1112.
- Shram N, Netchiporouk L, Cespuglio R (2002) Lactate in the brain of the freely moving rat: voltammetric monitoring of the changes related to the sleep–wake states. Eur J Neurosci 16:461.
- Siclari F, LaRocque JJ, Postle BR, Tononi G (2013) Assessing sleep consciousness within subjects using a serial awakening paradigm. Front Psycho 4.
- Siegel JM (2001) The REM sleep-memory consolidation hypothesis. Science 294:1058–1063.
- Sorg O, Magistretti PJ (1991) Characterization of the glycogenolysis elicited by vasoactive intestinal peptide, noradrenaline and adenosine in primary cultures of mouse cerebral cortical astrocytes. Brain Res 563:227–233.
- Sorg O, Magistretti PJ (1992) Vasoactive intestinal peptide and noradrenaline exert long-term control on glycogen levels in astrocytes: blockade by protein synthesis inhibition. J Neurosci 12:4923–4931.
- Sotelo-Hitschfeld T, Niemeyer MI, Mächler P, Ruminot I, Lerchundi R, Wyss MT, Stobart J, FernÄndez-Moncada I, Valdebenito R, Garrido-Gerter P, Contreras-Baeza Y, Schneider BL, Aebischer P, Lengacher S, San Martín A, Le Douce J, Bonvento G, Magistretti PJ, Sepúlveda FV, Weber B, Barros LF (2015) Channel-mediated lactate release by K+-stimulated astrocytes. J Neurosci 35:4168–4178.

Steriade M (2003) The corticothalamic system in sleep. Front Biosci, Landmark 8:d878–d879.

- Stincone A, Prigione A, Cramer T, Wamelink M, Campbell K, Cheung E, Olin-Sandoval V, Grüning N, Krüger A, Tauqeer Alam M, Keller M, Breitenbach M, Brindle K, Rabinowitz J, Ralser M (2014) The return of metabolism: biochemistry and physiology of the pentose phosphate pathway. Biol Rev Camb Philos Soc. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/brv.12140</u>.
- Suzuki A, Stern SA, Bozdagi O, Huntley GW, Walker RH, Magistretti PJ, Alberini CM (2011) Astrocyte-neuron lactate transport is required for long-term memory formation. Cell 144:810–823.

- Takahashi K, Kayama Y, Lin JS, Sakai K (2010) Locus coeruleus neuronal activity during the sleep-waking cycle in mice. Neuroscience 169:1115–1126.
- Tang F, Lane S, Korsak A, Paton JFR, Gourine AV, Kasparov S, Teschemacher AG (2014) Lactate-mediated glia-neuronal signalling in the mammalian brain. Nat Commun 5.
- Tekkök SB, Brown AM, Westenbroek R, Pellerin L, Ransom BR (2005) Transfer of glycogen-derived lactate from astrocytes to axons via specific monocarboxylate transporters supports mouse optic nerve activity. J Neurosci Res 81:644–652.
- Theis M, Söhl G, Eiberger J, Willecke K (2005) Emerging complexities in identity and function of glial connexins. Trends Neurosci 28:188–195.
- Thomas M, Sing H, Belenky G, Holcomb H, Mayberg H, Dannals R, Wagner Jr H, Thorne D, Popp K, Rowland L, Welsh A, Balwinski S, Redmond D (2000) Neural basis of alertness and cognitive performance impairments during sleepiness. I. Effects of 24 h of sleep deprivation on waking human regional brain activity. J Sleep Res 9:335–352.
- Thornalley PJ (2008) Protein and nucleotide damage by glyoxal and methylglyoxal in physiological systems - role in ageing and disease. Drug Metab Drug Interact 23:125–150.
- Tononi G, Cirelli C (2006) Sleep function and synaptic homeostasis. Sleep Med Rev 10:49–62.
- Vaishnavi SN, Vlassenko AG, Rundle MM, Snyder AZ, Mintun MA, Raichle ME (2010) Regional aerobic glycolysis in the human brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:17757–17762.
- Vannucci SJ, Maher F, Simpson IA (1997) Glucose transporter proteins in brain: delivery of glucose to neurons and glia. Glia 21:2–21.
- Varin C, Rancillac A, Geoffroy H, Arthaud S, Fort P, Gallopin T (2015) Glucose induces slow-wave sleep by exciting the sleep-promoting neurons in the ventrolateral preoptic nucleus: a new link between sleep and metabolism. J Neurosci 35:9900–9911.
- Verkhratsky A, Rodriguez JJ, Parpura V (2012) Calcium signalling in astroglia. Mol Cell Endocrinol 353:45–56.
- Verkhratsky A (2006) Glial calcium signaling in physiology and pathophysiology. Acta Pharmacol Sin 27:773–780.
- Voutsinos-Porche B, Bonvento G, Tanaka K, Steiner P, Welker E, Chatton J-Y, Magistretti PJ, Pellerin L (2003) Glial glutamate transporters mediate a functional metabolic crosstalk between neurons and astrocytes in the mouse developing cortex. Neuron 37:275–286.
- Vyazovskiy V, Faraguna U (2015) Sleep and synaptic homeostasis. In: Meerlo P, editor. Sleep, Neuronal Plasticity and Brain Function, vol. 25. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer. p. 91–121.
- Vyazovskiy V, Borbely AA, Tobler I (2000) Unilateral vibrissae stimulation during waking induces interhemispheric EEG asymmetry during subsequent sleep in the rat. J Sleep Res 9:367–371.
- Vyazovskiy VV, Cirelli C, Tononi G, Tobler I (2008) Cortical metabolic rates as measured by 2-deoxyglucose-uptake are increased after waking and decreased after sleep in mice. Brain Res Bull 75:591–597.
- Vyazovskiy VV, Olcese U, Lazimy YM, Faraguna U, Esser SK, Williams JC, Cirelli C, Tononi G (2009) Cortical firing and sleep homeostasis. Neuron 63:865–878.
- Vyazovskiy VV, Olcese U, Hanlon EC, Nir Y, Cirelli C, Tononi G (2011) Local sleep in awake rats. Nature 472:443–447.
- Wender R, Brown AM, Fern R, Swanson RA, Farrell K, Ransom BR (2000) Astrocytic glycogen influences axon function and survival during glucose deprivation in central white matter. J Neurosci 20:6804–6810.
- Wisor JP, Rempe MJ, Schmidt MA, Moore ME, Clegern WC (2013) Sleep slow-wave activity regulates cerebral glycolytic metabolism. Cereb Cortex 23:1978–1987.
- Wu JC, Gillin JC, Buchsbaum MS, Hershey T, Hazlett E, Sicotte N, Bunney Jr WE (1991) The effect of sleep deprivation on cerebral glucose metabolic rate in normal humans assessed with positron emission tomography. Sleep 14:155–162.

- Yang J, Ruchti E, Petit J-M, Jourdain P, Grenningloh G, Allaman I, Magistretti PJ (2014) Lactate promotes plasticity gene expression by potentiating NMDA signaling in neurons. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111:12228–12233.
- Zhang Y, Barres BA (2010) Astrocyte heterogeneity: an underappreciated topic in neurobiology. Cur Op Neurobiol 20:588–594.
- Zhang Y, Chen K, Sloan SA, Bennett ML, Scholze AR, O'Keeffe S, Phatnani HP, Guarnieri P, Caneda C, Ruderisch N, Deng S, Liddelow SA, Zhang C, Daneman R, Maniatis T, Barres BA, Wu JQ (2014) An RNA-sequencing transcriptome and splicing database of glia, neurons, and vascular cells of the cerebral cortex. J Neurosci 34:11929–11947.
- Zhou Y, Danbolt NC (2013) Glutamate and GABA transporters in brain. Front Endocrinol 4.
- Zhou M, Kimelberg HK (2001) Freshly isolated hippocampal CA1 astrocytes comprise two populations differing in glutamate transporter and AMPA receptor expression. J Neurosci 21:7901–7908.
- Zimmerman JE, Naidoo N, Raizen DM, Pack AI (2008) Conservation of sleep: insights from non-mammalian model systems. Trends Neurosci 31:371–376.
- Zimmermann H, Zebisch M, Sträter N (2012) Cellular function and molecular structure of ecto-nucleotidases. Purinergic Sign 8:437–502.

(Accepted 4 December 2015) (Available online 17 December 2015)